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Preface

Q

THE HisTorRY OF PROPHETS AND KINGs (Ta’rikh al-rusul wa'l-
mulik) by Aba Ja'far Muhammad b. Jarir al-Tabari (839-923),
here rendered as the History of al-Tabari, is by common consent
the most important universal history produced in the world of
Islam. It has been translated here in its entirety for the first time
for the benefit of non-Arabists, with historical and philological
notes for those interested in the particulars of the text.

Tabari’'s monumental work explores the history of the ancient
nations, with special emphasis on biblical peoples and prophets,
the legendary and factual history of ancient Iran, and, in great
detail, the rise of Islam, the life of the Prophet Muhammad, and
the history of the Islamic world down to the year 915. The first
volume of this translation will contain a biography of al-Tabari
and a discussion of the method, scope, and value of his work. It
will also provide information on some of the technical considera-
tions that have guided the work of the translators.

The History has been divided here into 38 volumes, each of
which covers about two hundred pages of the original Arabic text
in the Leiden edition. An attempt has been made to draw the
dividing lines between the individual volumes in such a way that
each is to some degree independent and can be read as such. The
page numbers of the original in the Leiden edition appear on the
margins of the translated volumes.

Al-Tabari very often quotes his sources verbatim and traces the
chain of transmission {isnad) to an original source. The chains of
transmitters are, for the sake of brevity, rendered by only a dash
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(—) between the individual links in the chain. Thus, “According
to Ibn Humayd—Salamah—Ibn Ishaq” means that al-Tabari re-
ceived the report from Ibn Humayd, who said that he was told by
Salamah, who said that he was told by Ibn Ishiq, and so on. The
numerous subtle and important differences in the original Arabic
wording have been disregarded.

The table of contents at the beginning of each volume gives a
brief survey of the topics dealt with in that particular volume. It
also includes the headings and subheadings as they appear in al-
Tabari’s text, as well as those occasionally introduced by the
translator.

Well-known place names, such as, for instance, Mecca, Bagh-
dad, Jerusalem, Damascus, and the Yemen, are given in their
English spellings. Less common place names, which are the vast
majority, are transliterated. Biblical figures appear in the accepted
English spelling. Iranian names are usually transcribed according
to their Arabic forms, and the presumed Iranian forms are often
discussed in the footnotes.

Technical terms have been translated wherever possible, but
some, such as ditham and imam, have been retained in Arabic
forms. Others that cannot be translated with sufficient precision
have been retained and italicized as well as footnoted.

The annotation aims chiefly at clarifying difficult passages,
identifying individuals and place names, and discussing textual
difficulties. Much leeway has been left to the translators to in-
clude in the footnotes whatever they consider necessary and
helpful.

The bibliographies list all the sources mentioned in the anno-
tation.

The index in each volume contains all the names of persons
and places referred to in the text, as well as those mentioned in
the notes as far as they refer to the medieval period. It does not
include the names of modern scholars. A general index, it is
hoped, will appear after all the volumes have been published.

For further details concerning the series and acknowledgments,
see Preface to Volume 1.

Ehsan Yar-Shater
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Translator’s Foreword

@

During the ten-year period covered in this volume, the reins of
Umayyad power were held by three caliphs bearing distinctive
personalities: Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik (r. 96-99/715—~717), a
man with a reputation for luxurious living who is nevertheless
favorably remembered for reversing the policies of al-Hajjaj and
appointing ‘Umar b. ‘Abd al-"Aziz as his successor; the pious
‘Umar (r. 99—101/717-720), a quasi-messianic figure whose ac-
cession to the caliphate, engineered by Raja’ b. Haywah, con-
stituted a virtual coup d’état; and Yazid b. ‘Abd al-Malik {r. ro1-
105/720-724), a profligate whose own demise was caused by his
inconsolable grief for his singing slave girl, Hababah.

By the year 96/714~715, the Arab conquests had reached what
ultimately would become their farthest limits in both the East
and the West. With the exception of the disastrous third and final
campaign against Constantinople, Sulayman adopted a cautious
policy that favored the consolidation of previous conquests over
further expansion. This policy was taken to its logical extension
by ‘Umar II, who recalled Maslamah from the campaign against
Constantinople, ordered a complete stop to every expedition on
the eastern front, and called for a general withdrawal of the Arab
soldiers from Transoxiana. Initially, this same cautious policy
was continued by Yazid I, whose governor over Khurasin, Sa‘id b.
‘Abd al-"Aziz, did not pass beyond Samargand. On the two occa-
sions on which he crossed over the Oxus River, he punished his
own raiding parties, and was dubbed “Khudhaynah,” “the little
princess,”’ by his own soldiers because of his perceived weakness.
But the governorship of Khudhaynah'’s successor, Sa‘id al-Harashi,
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marked a retumn to a more aggressive policy that resulted in the
brutal pacification of Soghdia and the subjugation of Kiss and
Rabinjan.

Internally, the unity of the Umayyad Empire was threatened by
several phenomena, the most important being the rise of tribal
factionalism. Although scholars disagree over whether the terms
“Qays” and “Yaman’ refer to tribal confederations, political par-
ties, or interest groups, it is generally accepted that the Qays stood
for the expansion of the empire and the exclusion of non-Arab
clients, while the Yaman criticized the policy of expansion and
advocated equal status for Arab Muslims and non-Arab converts to
Islam. The accession of Sulayman, who had allied himself with the
Yamanis while serving as governor of Palestine, signaled a shift in
the balance of power away from the Qaysis, as the new Caliph
proceeded to dismiss the Qaysi governors appointed by his prede-
cessors, replacing them with men from the Yaman. In distant
Farghanah, the Qaysi commander, Qutaybah b. Muslim al-Bahilj,
realizing that his political usefulness had come to an end, tried to
raise a revolt against the new Caliph, but his supporters, both Arab
and non-Arab, turned against him, slew him, and returned to their
homes. An effort to mollify tribal factionalism was made by “‘Umar
II, who chose governors over whom he had control and whom he
believed to be competent, irrespective of their tribal affiliations.
This policy was short-lived, however, as “‘Umar reigned for only
two years. Under his successor, Yazid Il, who sought to reestablish
the old order, the Qaysis returned to power, embittered by the
humiliations they had suffered since the accession of Sulayman;
they were determined to take revenge. It was during the caliphate
of Yazid II, in the year 101/719~720, that Yazid b. al-Mubhallab al-
Azdi staged his revolt, an episode to which Tabari devotes consid-
erable attention. Although this was not, strictly speaking, a tribal
conflict—Ibn al-Muhallab’s own tribe of the Azd sided against
him—it nevertheless contributed to the intensification of the
factional schism as Qaysis were installed in Iraq and the East in its
aftermath. More than any other factor, these tribal rivalries, which
spanned the entire empire, contributed to the downfall of the
Umayvyads.

The administrative boundaries of Iraq and the eastern prov-
inces shifted several times during the short span of ten years
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covered in this volume. Previously, Khurasan had been governed
from the usual seat of the governor in Iraq, but Yazid b. al-
Mubhallab persuaded Sulayman to let him govern from Khurasan
itself, which became the base of his campaigns against Jurjan and
Tabaristin. Under ‘Umar H, who supervised the actions of his
governors to an unprecedented degree, the vast eastern governor-
ate was broken up into different units, each responsible to the
Caliph. Under Yazid II, Maslamah was given joint control over al-
Kufah, al-Basrah, and Khurasan, appointing his own governors
over each locality. These shifts in administrative policy point to
the fact that by the turn of the century the Umayyad government
had effectively lost control of the administration of Khurasan and
the East. '

In addition to the conduct of the Holy War, another major
concern of the provincial governors was the collection and dis-
tribution of tribute money. The governors, the Arab tribesmen,
and the Caliph were divided over the issue of whether the income
from the yearly tribute should be disposed of in its entirety in the
provinces or conveyed to the central government. In the year
97/715~716, Sulayman, sensitive to the complaints of his sub-
jects in Iraq, who had suffered under the fiscal policy of al-Haijjaj,
sought to keep the fiscal affairs of that province under his own
control by appointing his own personal representative there with
special responsibility for taxation. Yazid b. al-Muhallab was ar-
rested by ‘Umar Il in the year 100/718—-719 because of his failure
to convey to the treasury the fifth of the booty that he had col-
lected during the conquest of Jurjan and Tabaristan, a sum of six
million dinars about which he had vainly boasted in a letter to
Sulayman. Similarly, Maslamah was dismissed by his half broth-
er Yazid in the year 102/720-721 when he failed to send surplus
revenue to the Caliph in Damascus. His replacement, ‘Umar b.
Hubayrah, introduced a plan according to which the right of the
Arab tribesmen to the yearly tribute was limited to the amount of
their stipends, while the surplus belonged to the central treasury.
These struggles further reflect the breakdown of central control.

Another major source of discontent was the non-Arabs who
expected to be relieved of certain taxes upon converting to Islam.
This expectation posed a dilemma for the central government
which, in an effort to prevent a decline in revenues, either tried to
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prevent conversion to Islam or took no note of it when collecting
taxes. The issue seems to have reached a climax during the
caliphate of ‘Umar II, who instituted his famous fiscal rescript
designed to address the problems related to conversion. Accord-
ing to the rescript, non-Arab clients were to be freed from the
kharaj tax and stipends were to be paid to every Muslim who
accepted his military obligation, regardless of whether he was an
Arab or a convert. These reforms, however, were allowed to lapse
upon ‘Umar’s death.

Religious opposition also posed a threat to the Umayyad re-
gime. A Khirijite revolt in the year 100/718-719, led by Shaw-
dhab, was initially handled in a diplomatic manner by ‘Umar Ii,
“the righteous man,” who summoned representatives of the re-
bels to enter into negotiations. After ‘Umar’s untimely death, the
revolt was brutally suppressed by Yazid II. Religious opposition
was a factor in the revolt of Yazid b. al-Muhallab, who summoned
his followers to ““the Book and the Sunnah,”” and received support
from both the Khairijites and the Murji’ites. But the main source
of religious opposition was the clandestine ‘Abbasid movement
that would eventually topple the dynasty. Tabari reports that
‘Abbasid propaganda began in earnest in the year 100/718~719,
when three emissaries who were sent to Khurasan by Muham-
mad b. ‘Ali b. “Abdallah b. ‘Abbas succeeded in enlisting seventy
recruits for the movement. Even if the suspicions of Western
scholars regarding the chronological accuracy of this report are
justified, it is nevertheless the case that the “Abbasid propaganda
was in place by the year 104/722-23.

Tabari presents the events of the years 96—105/715-724 in
considerable detail and with great vividness. We listen to the
stirring speeches of Qutaybah b. Muslim in which he urges his
followers to renounce their allegiance to Sulayman,; are present at
the disastrous third and final attempt to take Constantinople;
watch from behind the scenes as Raja’ b. Haywah skillfully en-
gineers the accession of ‘Umar II; and follow the remarkable ca-
reer of Yazid b. al-Muhallab, first as a governor and conqueror,
then as a prisoner, and finally as a rebel. Throughout this volume
we observe the struggle of the Umayyad regime to maintain con-
trol over a rapidly expanding but increasingly dissatisfied subject
population. Governors are appointed and dismissed with dizzying



Translator’s Foreword xvii

rapidity, administrative boundaries are drawn and redrawn, Arab
tribesmen express dissatisfaction with the diminishing rewards
of military conquest, non-Arab converts chafe at the differential
treatment they receive, and religious opponents revolt in the
name of “the Book and the Sunnah.” Important in their own
respect, the events of this period also constitute an essential key
to understanding the ‘Abbasid revolution that was about to
unfold.

There remains the pleasant duty of acknowledging the indis-
pensable assistance of friends and colleagues who contributed to
the making of this translation. My colleague, Samia Mehrez, read
through much of the Arabic text with me and helped to clarify the
meaning of many difficult expressions. Richard Jacquemond of-
fered valuable comments on an early draft of the manuscript.
Three members of the Tabari editorial board who read parts or all
of the manuscript with great care, Franz Rosenthal, Jacob Lassner,
and Thsan Abbas, were especially helpful with difficult sections of
the Arabic text and poetry. Finally, I am grateful to Judith
Ginsburg for assistance with the Latin glosses of the Leiden text,
to Penny Beebe for help with matters of style, and to Raihana
Zaman for her patience and fortitude when called upon to type
seemingly endless drafts of the translation. Needless to say, the
responsibility for any mistakes that remain are mine and mine
alone.

David Stephan Powers
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The
Events of the Year

96 (cont’d)

(SEPTEMBER 16, 714—SEPTEMBER 4, 715)!

@

Abu Ja‘far {al-Tabari) said: In this year, the oath of allegiance was
rendered to Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik as Caliph.2 This took place
in al-Ramlah on the day on which al-Walid b. ‘Abd al-Malik died.3
In this year, Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik dismissed the governor
of Medina, ‘Uthman b. Hayyan.4 Muhammad b. “‘Umar mentioned
that Sulayman removed ‘Uthman from Medina on the twenty-
fourth of Ramadan in the year 96 (June 3, 715). Abu Ja'far con-
tinued: He served as governor of Medina for three years. It is also
said: His term of office was two years, less seven nights.
According to al-Waqidi: ‘Uthman b. Hayyan consented to a

1. For other sources on the caliphate of Sulaymian b. ‘Abd al-Malik, see Ibn
Qutaybah, Ma'arif, 360-61; Ya'qiibi, Ta'rikh, 11, 38-45; Kifi, Futih, VII, 252
306; FHA, 16—37; Mas'adi, Murij (Beirut), I1l, 173-81; Ibn Kathir, Bidayah, IX,
166—84; Wellhausen, Arab Kingdom, 257ff.

2. See Ibn Khayyat, Ta'rikh, 1, 314; Ibn Kathir, Biddyah, IX, 166.

3. Al-Walid died on a Saturday in the middle of Jumada II in the year 96 {Febru-
ary 23, 715). See text above, 11/1269~70.

4. That is, ‘Uthmin b. Hayyan al-Murri, who al-Walid had appointed in Sha‘ban
of the year 93 {May 13—]June 10, 712} or Shawwil of 94 (June 30—]uly 28, 713}.
See text above, II/1255, 1258ff.; Ya'qubi, Ta'rikh, 111, 39.

|1281]

[1282]
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request from Aba Bakr b. Muhammad b. ‘Amr b. Hazm? for per-
mission to sleep {late} the following morning and not to grant an
audience to the people, so that he might observe the twenty-first
night of Ramadan.é Ayyiub b. Salamah al-Makhziimi, who was on
bad terms with Abii Bakr b. ‘Amr b. Hazm, was with ‘Uthman at
that time, and he said to him, “Have you not considered what
that one is saying? He is merely making a show of piety.”
‘Uthmain answered, “I thought of that, but, if I do not find him
holding court tomorrow morning when I send for him, then as
surely as I am my father’s son, I shall flog him one hundred lashes
and shave his head and his beard.” Ayyub said, “Pleasantly sur-
prised by his statement, I hastened at dawn to his house, through
which I found my way by candlelight. I said (to myself}, ‘al-Murri
(that is, “‘Uthman) has also come in haste (to fulfill his oath).’” But
lo and behold, Sulaymian’s messenger had already arrived, carry-
ing orders to appoint Abx Bakr as governor and to have ‘Uthman
dismissed and flogged.” Ayyib continued, “I entered the gover-
nor's residence, and there was Ibn Hayyan sitting on the floor,
while Abii Bakr was sitting on a chair saying to the blacksmith,
‘Put the chains on this man’s feet.’ ‘Uthman looked at me and
recited:

They turned their backs and fled
But things are not forever the same.”

In this year, Sulayman removed Yazid b. Abi Muslim from Iraq,
replacing him with Yazid b. al-Muhallab.? He put $alih b. ‘Abd al-
Rahman in charge of the fiscal administration and ordered him to
torture and kill the family of Abu ‘Aqil.®

5. Abii Bakr b. Muhammad b. ‘Amr b. Hazm was chief qadi of Medina, appar-
ently from the year 88 {706-07]). See text above, 11/1191, 1255.

6. It is particularly meritorious to undertake the i"tikdf-—a period of retreat in a
mosque during which the believer fasts, prays, and recites the Qur’an. It occurs
during the last ten days of the month of Ramadan, when the laylat al-gadr [night
on which the Qur'an was first revealed) is presumed to have taken place. See El,
s.v. Ramadan; EI2, s.v. I'tikaf.

7. ‘Uthmin was reportedly flogged twice, once for drinking wine, and a second
time in retaliation for an accusation he had leveled against *Abdallih b. ‘Amr b.
‘Uthman b. "Affan. See Ya'qubi, Ta’rikh, III, 39.

8. See Ya'qubi, Ta'rikh, 111, 40.

9. That is, the family of al-Haijaj b. Yisuf, who had slain Salih’s brother, Adam.
See Crone, Slaves, 43; EI2, s.v. al-Hadidjadj b. Yasuf; Baladhuri, Futih (Cairo), Il,
540.
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According to ‘Umar b. Shabbah—Ali b. Muhammad: Salih
reached Iraq, where he took charge of the fiscal administration,
while Yazid was in charge of military affairs. Yazid then sent
Ziyad b. al-Muhallab to serve as governor of ‘Uman, !¢ saying to
him, “Correspond with Salih, and, when you write to him, men-
tion his name first.” {Upon reaching Iraq) Silih seized the family
of Abu ‘Aqil and tortured them; ‘Abd al-Malik b. al-Muhallab
administered the torture.

In this year, Qutaybah b. Muslim!! was slain in Khurasan.12

The Slaying of Qutaybah b. Muslim

The circumstances surrounding this: Al-Walid b. ‘Abd al-Malik
wanted to designate his son, ‘Abd al-*Aziz b. al-Walid, as the heir
apparent, and he secretly conveyed his intent to the generals and
the poets.'3 Jarir'4 said with regard to this:

When they ask, “Which man would be the best Caliph?”
the fingers point to “Abd al-'Aziz.

They consider him the most deserving of all the people,
and they were not mistaken when they hurried and swore
the oath of allegiance to him.'s

Jarir also recited, urging al-Walid to nominate "Abd al-‘Aziz:

Toward "Abd al-*Aziz the eyes of the people turned,

when the rulers were at a loss about whom to choose.
To him his merits call attention, when

the pillars of state and the heavens fall down.
And the leaders of Quraysh say,

10. See El, s.v. "‘Oman.

11. Qutaybah is Abi Hafs Qutaybah b. Abi $alih Muslim b. ‘Arar al-Bihili. He
was an Arab commander who extended Arab power over the boundaries of
Khurasan, See EI2, s.v. Kutayba b. Muslim; Wellhausen, Arab Kingdom, 434-3s5;
Ibn Khallikan, Wafayat, 1V, 86—91.

12. See Ibn Khayyat, Ta'rikh, 1, 318; Baladhuri, Futih (Cairo), Ifl, s19—~22; Ya'-
qubi, Ta'rikh, 111, 40-41; Kufi, Futdh, VI, 253-80, FHA, 17-19; Ibn Kathir,
Bidayah, IX, 167—-69; Wellhausen, Arab Kingdom, 439ff.

13. "Abd al-Malik had stipulated in his succession covenant that Sulayman was
to succeed al-Walid as Caliph. See text above, 11/1170.

14. Jarir b. "Atiyyah b. al-Khatafah {(Hudhayfah) b. Badr (d. 110/728-29) was one
of the most famous poets of the Umayyad period. See Ef2, s.v. Djarir.

15. Fa-bayi'ithu wa-sari‘ii; read fa-baya‘ithu wa-sara’i, following Band P. See
Naka'id Jarir wa-1-Farazdagq, 1, 351.
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“We must swear the oath of allegiance now that the race
has reached its end.”

They consider ‘Abd al-*Aziz to be the heir apparent,
and they have not made a mistake or done wrong.

What do you wait for, when you are the ones that bear
onerous deeds and rise to glory?

So pass it (that is, the caliphate) on to him wholly,
O Commander of the Faithful, if you so desire.

For the people have already extended their hands to him,
and the matter has become generally known.

And had they given the oath of allegiance to you as heir
apparent,
the balance would have been even and the building would
have been straight.!6

Al-Hajjaj b. Yusuf and Qutaybah concurred in the renunciation
of Sulayman. Then al-Walid died, and Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik
assumed power. This was why Qutaybah feared him.

According to ‘Ali b. Muhammad—Bishr b. ‘Is3, al-Hasan b. Ru-
shayd and Kulayb b. Khalaf—Tufayl b. Mirdas and Jabalah b.
Farrikh—Muhammad b. ‘Uzayz al-Kindi, Jabalah b. Abi Raw-
wad,!” and Maslamah b. Muharib—al-Sakin b. Qatadah: When
Qutaybah learned of the death of al-Walid b. “Abd al-Malik and
the accession of Sulayman, he feared Sulayman because, together
with al-Hajjaj, he had worked for the nomination of "Abd al-"Aziz
b. al-Walid. Thus, he feared that Sulaymian would appoint Yazid
b. al-Muhallab as governor of Khurasan.!8

Qutaybah wrote a letter to Sulayman in which he congratu-
lated him on becoming Caliph, consoled him about al-Walid, and
informed him of his achievements and of his obedience to ‘Abd al-
Malik and al-Walid. He also indicated that Sulayman could count
on the same measure of obedience and sincere advice as had the
former two, provided he did not remove him from Khurasan. He
(also) wrote him another letter in which he informed him of his
conquests and his ferocity against the enemy, of his exalted

16. Ibid,, 1, 350~51.

17. Text: Dawid; read Rawwad, following the Cairo ed.

18. Ten years earlier, in 86/705, al-Hajjaj had dismissed Yazid b. al-Muhallab as
governor of Khurasin and appointed Qutaybah in his place. See text above,
11/t 178fi., sub anno 86.
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standing among the non-Arab rulers, of the awe he inspired in
their hearts, and of his great renown among them. He also dis-
paraged al-Muhallab and his family and swore by God that if
Yazid b. al-Muhallab were appointed governor of Khurasan, he
(that is, Qutaybah) would throw off his allegiance to Sulaymin.
And (finally) he wrote a third letter in which he renounced his
allegiance to him.

Qutaybah sent the three letters with a man from the tribe of
Bahilah, saying: “Give the first letter to the Caliph. If Yazid b. al-
Mubhallab is present and the Caliph reads it and then hands it to
him, give him the second letter. If the Caliph reads it and gives it
to Yazid, give him the third letter. But if he reads the first letter
and does not give it to Yazid, hold on to the other two.”

Qutaybah’s messenger arrived and presented himself to Sulay-
man, who was with Yazid b. al-Muhallab. The messenger gave
the letter to the Caliph, who read it and then showed it to Yazid.
The messenger gave the Caliph another letter, which he read and
threw at Yazid. Then he gave him the third letter. The Caliph
read it, and the color of his face changed. He called for some clay,
sealed the letter, and kept it in his possession.

According to Abui ‘Ubaydah Ma‘mar b. al-Muthanna: The first
letter contained slanderous remarks about Yazid b. al-Muhallab,
noting his perfidy, infidelity, and ingratitude. The second letter
contained praise of Yazid. The third letter contained the follow-
ing statement: “If you do not confirm me in my present position
and if you do not grant me a writ of safe conduct, I will renounce
my allegiance to you as quickly as one removes a shoe, and I will
fill the earth around you with horsemen and foot soldiers.”

He also said: When Sulayman read the third letter, he put it
between two mattresses under him and made no comment.

Returning to the account of ‘Ali b. Muhammad: Then he—that
is, Sulayman—ordered that Qutaybah’s messenger be provided
with accommodations, whereupon the latter was transferred to
the guest house. That evening, Sulayman called for him. He gave
him a purse containing some dinars and said, ““Here is your re-
ward, and here is your master’s document of appointment as gov-
ernor of Khurisan. Be on your way in the company of my mes-
senger, who is carrying Qutaybah’s document of appointment.”

The Bahili tribesman set out, and Sulaymin sent with him a

(1285]
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man from the tribe of ‘Abd al-Qays, one of the Bana Layth by the
name of Sa‘sa‘ah or Mus‘ab. When they reached Hulwan,!® the
people informed them that Qutaybah had renounced the Caliph.
The ‘Abdi tribesman turned back, having given the document of
appointment to Qutaybah’s messenger, although Qutaybah had
already renounced the Caliph. There was considerable confu-
sion.20 The messenger gave the document of appointment to
Qutaybah, who then sought the counsel of his brothers. They
said, “Sulayman will not trust you, after this.”

According to ‘Ali—one of the ‘Anbaris—some of their
shaykhs—Tawbah b. Abi Asid al-'Anbari: $alih2! arrived in Iraq
and sent me to Qutaybah in order to find out about the latter’s
situation. I was accompanied by 2 man from the Banu Asad, who
asked me about the nature of my journey, but I concealed it from
him. While we were traveling, a bird passed from our left to our
right, causing my companion to look at me and say, I think that
you are on an important mission and that you are hiding it from
me.” I continued on my way. When I reached Hulwan, the people
informed me that Qutaybah had been slain.

According to ‘Ali—Abia al-Dhayyal, Kulayb b. Khalaf and Abu
‘Al al-Juzjani—Tufayl b. Mirdas, Abu al-Hasan al-Jashami, and
Mus‘ab b. Hayyan22—his brother, Mugatil b. Hayyan, Abu
Mikhnaf, and others: When Qutaybah was contemplating re-
nouncing his allegiance to the Caliph, he sought the counsel of
his brothers. ‘Abd al-Rahman said to him, “Dispatch an army and
include in it all those whom you fear: Send one contingent to
Marw;23 then you set out, until you reach Samarqand.24 Then say
to those who are with you, ‘Whoever wants to stay will receive
his share of the booty; whoever wants to leave will not be com-
pelled to stay, and no evil will befall him.’ In this way, only those

19. An ancient town situated near the entrance to the Paytak Pass through the
Zagros range, on the Khurasan highway. See EI2, s.v. Hulwan.

20. According to Kifi, Futiith, VII, 258-s59, the Caliph's messenger returmed to
Syria, taking the document of appointment with him, thereby causing Qutaybah
to regret his actions.

21. That is, Salih b. ‘Abd al-Rahman.

22. Text: Habbidn; read Hayyin, following the Cairo ed.

23. Marw was the capital and most famous city in Khurisin. See EI, Supple-
ment, s.v. Merw al-Shahidjan; Le Strange, Lands, 397ff.

24. Samarqand and Bukhira were the principle towns ot Transoxiana. See EI,
s.v. Samarkand; Le Strange, Lands, 463ff.
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who are loyal will remain with you.””25 ‘Abdallah said to him,
“Repudiate the Caliph right here, and call on the soldiers to re-
pudiate him, for no one will oppose you.”

Qutaybah accepted *Abdallah’s advice: He renounced his alle-
giance to Sulayman and called on the troops to repudiate him,
saying:

T have brought you together from ‘Ayn al-Tamr26 and Fayd
al-Bahr.27 ] have united brother with brother and son with
father. I have distributed your booty among you, and I have
paid you your stipends in full and without delay. You have
had experience with the governors who preceded me:
Umayyah?8 came to you and wrote to the Commander of
the Faithful, saying, ‘The tribute of Khurasan does not
support2® the expenses of my kitchen.’ Then Aba Sa‘id30
came to you and he spun you around for three years, during
which time you did not know whether you were in obe-
dience or in disobedience. He did not collect any levies or
hurt an enemy. Then his son, Yazid,3! came to you, after
him, a stallion for whom women compete.32 Your Caliph
is (as foolish as) Yazid b. Tharwan Habbanaqat al-Qaysi.33

25. Kofi, Futiih, VI, 260, adds: ““Then renounce your allegiance to Sulayman.”

26. "Ayn al-Tamr was a small town in Iraq on the borders of the desert, between
Anbar and al-Kifah, that commanded the military approaches to Iraq. See £/2, s.v.
‘Ayn al-Tamr.

27. Fayd al-Bahr was a well-known canal in al-Basrah. See Yaqit, Mu‘jam, 1V,
28s.

28. Umayyah b. ‘Abdallah was the governor of Khurisin under ‘Abd al-Malik
until 78/697—98. See text above, I1/1032ff.; Crone, Slaves, 232, n. 289.

29. Text: la yugimu. The Cairo ed. has la yagimu.

30. Abi Sa‘id al-Muhallab b. Abi Sufrah, deputy govemnor of Khuriasin under al-
Haijjaj, reopened the campaigns towards Central Asia. He died in 82/701-02 and
was succeeded by his son, Yazid. See text above, I1/1033ff., sub anno 78; EI2, s.v.
‘Abd al-Malik b. Marwan.

31. Yazid b. al-Mubhallab was appointed governor of Khurasin by al-Haijj in the
year szé 701-02, upon the death of his father, al-Muhallab. See text above,
11/ 1085 ff.

32. Text: fahlun tabara ilayhi al-nisa’. If one were to read tabdza instead of
tabara the sense would be, “a stud to whom women raise their hips.” Jahiz,
Baydn, 11, 134, has thumma atdakum bantihu ba'dahu mithla atba’i-1-kalbah
minhum Ibn al-Dahmah, “Then their sons came to you, after him, like bitch’s
teats, among them Ibn al-Dahmah (that is, Yazid b. al-Muhallab).”

33. Yazid b. Tharwin (his nickname was Dha al-Wada'at) would give his fat
camels much fodder and pasture, to the neglect of his thin ones. Likewise, Sulay-
man would confer favors on the wealthy and prosperous and neglect others. See
Baladhuri, Futah {Cairo), HI, 519-20.
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Our source continued: But no one responded, so Qutaybah be-
came angry and said:

May God never give strength to whomever you support.
By God, were you to unite in order to attack a goat, you
would not break its homn. O people of lowly places—I do
not say people of elevated places34—O rabble of the alms
tax, I have gathered you, just as the camels of the alms tax
are brought together from all directions. O tribe of Bakr b.
W2a’il, O people of pretense, lying, and stinginess, during
which of your two days do you boast? The day you go out
to war or the day you make peace? By God, I am more
powerful than you, O followers of Musaylimah,35 O
blameworthy ones—I do not call you upright ones36—O
people of weakness and perfidy. You used to call “per-
fidy,” during the pre-Islamic era (jahiliyyah), “Kaysan.’’37
O followers of Sajah,28 O tribe of ‘Abd al-Qays, the far-
ters,3° you have taken up the pollination of palm trees in
exchange for horses’ reins. O tribe of Azd, you have taken
ships’ cables in exchange for the reins of fleet*? stallions.
This is innovation in Islam! And the Bedouins? What are
the Bedouins? May the curse of God be on the Bedouins.
O refuse of al-Kafah and al-Basrah, I have brought you
together from the places where wormwood, southern-
wood, and wild senna®! are grown.#2 You were riding

34. Text: ya ahl al-safilah wa-la aqiilu ahl al-dliyah. It is a pun.

35. Musaylimah was a prophet of the Bani Hanifah in al-Yamamah; he was
contemporary with Muhammad. See El, s.v. Musailimah.

36. Text: yd bani dhamim wa-la aqiilu tamim. This is a pun on the tribe of
Tamim, who are being addressed here.

37. Kaysan is a name for perfidy. It is not related to Kaysan, the companion of
al-Mukhtir. See Lisan, s.v. k-y-s.

38. Sajah, Umm S$idir bt. Aws b. Hikk b. Usamah, or Bint al-Harith b. Suwayd b.
‘Uqfan, was a prophetess and soothsayer who appeared in Arabia during the riddah
wars. See El, s.v. Sadjah.

b}g Text: qusdt, “the cruel ones”; read fusdt. I owe this point to Professor Thsan
Abbas.

40. Text: al-husun, "horses.” This should be amended to read al-hudur. 1 owe
this point to Professor Abbas.

41. Text: al-filfil, “pepper.” Read: al-qilqil, as in Jahiz, Bayadn, 11, 133. There are
no pepper trees in Arabia.

42. These three plants grow in the desert.
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cows and donkeys on the island of Ibn Kawan,43 and,
when I gathered you, just as the scattered portions of
clouds#4 are brought together at the beginning of winter,
you started saying such and such! By God, I am the son of
his father and the brother of his brother. By God, I will
draw you together and beat you as one does the salamah
tree.45 Verily, around the silliyan plant is neighing.4¢ O
army of Khurasan, do you know who your leader is? Your
leader is Yazid b. Tharwan. It is as if ] am confronted by a
commander from the Ha’ and the Hakam47 who came to
you and displaced you from your homes and your
abodes.48 There is a fire over there. Shoot at it, and I will
shoot with you. Aim for your farthest mark! Aba Nafi-,
Dhii al-Wada‘at, has been put in charge of you.#® Syriais a
father who is treated with filial respect, while Iraq is a
father who is treated with ingratitude. How long will the
Syrian army30 continue to lie in your courtyards and un-
der the roofs of your homes? O army of Khurasan, if you
investigate my ancestry, you will find that I have an Iraqi
mother, an Iraqi father, an Iraqi birthplace, and Iraqi in-
clinations, opinions, and religion. Today, as you know,

43. The largest island in the Persian Gulf, situated off the southemn coast of
Persia between 'Uman and al-Bahrayn,; it takes its name from a certain al-Harith b.
Imru ‘1-Qays. See EI2, s.v. Kishm; Yiqut, Mu'jam, II, 139, s.v. Jazirat Kawian.

44. Text: qara’; read qaza’, following the Cairo ed.

45. A salamah tree has thomns and leaves; the latter are used to tan hides. The
leaves are removed by drawing the branches of the tree together, binding them
tightly with a rope, and beating them with a staff. See Lane, Lexicon, pt. 4, p- 1414.

46. The silliyan is a plant known as “the bread of the camels.” The phrase hawl]
al-silliyan al-zamzamah is a proverbial expression applied to a man who hovers
round a thing without making apparent his desire. See Lane, Lexicon, pt. 3, p.
1248.

47- The Ha’ are a tribe from the Madhhij, and the Hakam are a tribe from the
Yemen. See Jahiz, Baydn, I, 132, n. 7.

48. Text: ka-anni bi-amir mizja' wa-hakam qad ja'akum fa-ghalabakum ‘ala
fay'ikum wa-azlalikum. My translation follows Jahiz, Bayan, I, 132-33: ka-anni
bi-amir min ha’ wa-hakam qad atakum. Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, V, 14, has ka-anni
bi-amir ja’akum fa-ghalabakum ‘ala fay’ikum wa-zilalikum.

49. That is, Yazid b. Tharwan.

so. Text: ahl al-Sham. The Imperial Army were composed of warriors from
Syria unequivocally loyal to the Umayyad rulers; they were stationed in fortified
cities and sensitive areas where disturbances were expected to break out. See
Sharon, Black Banners, 61-2.
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you enjoy a state of safety and well-being. God has laid
open countries to you and made your roads secure, so that
a woman can travel in a litter from Marw to BalkhS!
without an escort. So praise God for the blessing He has
bestowed on you and ask Him for forgiveness and
increase.

Then Qutaybah stepped down and entered his house. The
members of his household came to him and said: “We have never
seen a day like today.52 By God, you did not limit yourself to the
Ahl-Aliyah, who are your close friends, but you even included
the Bakr, your followers. Not satisfied with that, you included the
Tamim, your brothers. Still not satisfied, you included the Azd,
your supporters.”’

Qutaybah said: “When I spoke, and not a single person re-
sponded, I became angry, and I did not know what I was saying.
The Ahl al-‘Aliyah are like the camels of the alms tax that have
been gathered from every direction;53 the Bakr are like a slave girl
who does not ward off a sexual advance; the Tamim are like
mangy camels; the ‘Abd al-Qays are that part of the wild ass that
he hits with his tail; and the Azd are wild asses—the worst that
God created. Were I their master, I would brand them.”’54

The troops were angry and unwilling to throw off allegiance to
Sulayman, and the tribes were also angry, because of the abusive
terms that Qutaybah had cast at them. They all agreed to oppose
and denounce Qutaybah. The first to speak in this matter were
the Azd, who approached Hudayn b. al-Mundhir’5 and said,
““That one has called for what he has called for, namely, throwing
off allegiance to the Caliph; however, that way will lead to cor-
ruption in matters of both religion and the temporal world. Not

s1. An important city in Khurasin situated at the meeting place of the trade
routes; the city was subdued by Qutaybah b. Muslim. Sce E2, s.v. Balkh; Le
Strange, Lands, 420ff.

52. Text: ma ra’ayna ka-l-yawmi qatt. 1bn al-Athir, Kamil, V, 14, has ma
ra’aynaka ka-l-yawmi qatt: “We have never seen you behave as you did today.”

3. The Ahl al-'Aliyah were a heterogeneous group made up of sundry tribes.

54. This statement may be an allusion to al-Hajjaj, who branded peoples’ hands.
For parallel versions of Qutaybah’s speeches, see al-Jahiz, Bayan, II, 132—35; Kufi,
Futah, V11, 261-65.

55. Hudayn b. al-Mundhir was a notable and poet of al-Basrah, who was head of
the Bakr b. W#'il; he died ca. 100/718-19. See EI2, s.v. al-Hudayn b. al-Mundhir;
Crone, Slaves, 113.
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satisfied with this, he has humiliated and reviled us. What do you
recommend, O Abu Hafs?” His nom de guerre was Abu Sasan; it
is also said that his patronymic is Aba Muhammad. Hudayn said
to them, “The Mudar in Khurasan are equal to the other three
tribal groups (khums), and within the Mudar the Tamim form the
majority. They are the heroes of Khurasan who will never agree
that the ruling power pass from the Mudar. Thus, if you exclude
them from power, they will support Qutaybah.'’s6 The Azd said,
“Qutaybah wronged the Bani Tamim by the slaying of Ibn al-
Ahtam.””57 Hudayn said, ‘Do not pay any attention to that, for
the Banii Tamim are partisans of the Mudar confederation.” The
Azd left, rejecting Hudayn’s advice. They wanted to put ‘Abdallih
b. Hawdhan al-Jahdami5® in charge, but he refused. After arguing
among themselves, with each refusing to be the leader, they went
back to Hudayn and said, ““We have debated the question of lead-
ership and decided to put you in charge of us, for the Rabi‘ah will
not oppose you.” He said, “I will have nothing to do with this
matter.” They said, “What do you suggest?”” He said, “If you give
the leadership to the Tamim, you will be powerful.” They said,
“Whom do you recommend from the Tamim?”’ He said, “Only
Waki.”’5?

Hayyan, a client of the Bana Shaybin, said: “Only that Bed-
ouin, Waki’, will take charge of this affair, enduring its heat,
shedding his blood, and exposing himself to death, and, if a gover-
nor comes, he will punish him for what he has done though the
credit goes to somebody else, for he is a brave man who neither
cares what he mounts nor what the consequences will be. He has
many loyal kinsmen and a score to settle; he has a claim against
Qutaybah because of the leadership that the latter took from him
and gave to Dirar b. Husayn b. Zayd al-Fawiris b. Husayn b. Dirar

56. See Sharon, Black Banners, 6o.

§7. During the campaign against Bukhari in the year 91 (709—10), Qutaybah had
appointed ‘Abdallah b. al-Ahtam as his deputy governor in Marw. ‘Abdallah had
taken the opportunity to intrigue with al-Hajjaj against Qutaybah, but fared badly
and was forced to flee to Syria. Qutaybah made ‘Abdallah’s brothers pay the
penalty in his stead—he slew some of them and cut off the arms and legs of the

others, thereby calling down upon himself the revenge of Tamim. See text above,

11/1218; Ya'qubi, Ta'rikh, 1lI, 40; Balidhuri, Futih (Cairo), 1ll, s22-23; Well-
hausen, Arab Kingdom, 441-42.

58. “Abdallah b. Hawdhan al-Jahdami was one of the chiefs of the Azd. See Kiifi,
Futdh, VI, 266.

59. Abi Mutarrif al-Ghudani, Waqi‘ b. Hassian b. Qays b. Abi Sad al-Tamimi.

[1290]



[1291]

14 The Caliphate of Sulaymin b. ‘Abd al-Malik

al-Dabbi.”’60 The troops then began to consult with one another
in secret.

Someone said to Qutaybah, No one creates dissension among
the troops except Hayyan.” Qutaybah therefore wanted to murder
him; however, Hayyan had ingratiated himself with the servants
of the governors,6! who would not conceal anything from him.
Qutaybah summoned a man and ordered him to kill Hayyan. But
one of the servants heard him, came to Hayyan and told him of
the order. Thus, when Qutaybah sent a message to Hayyin, sum-
moning him, the latter was on his guard and feigned illness.
Meanwhile, Waki‘ accepted the soldiers’ request that he serve as
their leader.

{Waki‘) cited the verse of al-Ashhab b. Rumaylah:

I will reap what I have sown. Verily, my power
rests on a solid foundation.

In Khurasan there were at that time nine thousand warriors
from the Bagran army representing the Ahl al-‘Aliyah; seven thou-
sand from the Bakr, headed by al-Hudayn b. al-Mundhir; ten
thousand from the Tamim, led by Dirar b. Husayn al-Dabbi; four
thousand from the ‘Abd al-Qays, led by ‘Abdallah b. ‘Alwan
al-‘Awdhi;52 and ten thousand from the Azd, headed by ‘Abdallih
b. Hawdhan. There were seven thousand from the Kiifan army,
led by Jahm b. Zahr or ‘Ubaydallah b. *Ali, and seven thousand of
the clients {mawali),$3 led by Hayyan. Some say that Hayyan is
from al-Daylam,54 while others say that he is from Khurasan. He
is called “Nabati” {the Nabataean) because of his mispronuncia-
tion of Arabic.55

60. Waki' had sworn to take vengeance on Qutaybah because the latter had
removed him from his position as head of the Banit Tamim in Khurisin, replacing
him with al-Dabbi. See Baladhuri, Futith {Cairo}, UII, 523; ER, s.v. Dabba.

61. Text: hasham al-wulat. Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, V, 15, has khadam al-wult,
which means the same thing.

62. Text: ‘Awdhi; read al-‘Awdhi, following the Cairo ed.

63. A mawla (pl. mawali} was a non-Arab convert to Islam who attached him-
self to an Arab tribe. See Crone, Slaves, 49ff.

64. A region encompassing the entire southemn coast of the Caspian and the
lands forming a belt to the south of the Alburz range. See Ef2, s.v. Daylam.

6s. Text: li-luknatihi. Hayyan apparently had difficulty pronouncing the gut-
tural consonants of the Arabic language, such as ha and ‘ayin. See FHA, 6¢8—69,
where examples of his speech are quoted.
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Hayyan sent to Waki', saying, "'If I leave you alone and lend you
my support, will you assign me the land tax of one side of the
Balkh River for as long as I am alive and you are governor?”’ When
Waki‘ agreed, Hayyan said to the non-Arabs, “Those (Arabs) are
fighting over something other than religion, so let them kill one
another.” They agreed and swore allegiance to Waki‘ in secret.

Dirar b. Husayn approached Qutaybah, saying, “The troops are
going back and forth to Waki', swearing allegiance to him.”” Now
Waki‘ was in the habit of visiting ‘Abdallah b. Muslim al-Fagqir at
his house, where the two of them would drink together. ‘Abdallah
said, “That one [that is, Dirar) is envious of Waki", and this claim
is false. Waki‘ is in my house, drinking, becoming intoxicated,
and shitting in his clothes, yet Dirar claims that they are swear-
ing allegiance to him.”

Waki‘ then came to Qutaybah and said, “Beware of Dirar, for [
do not trust him with you.” Qutaybah therefore attributed what
they said to their mutual envy. Waki' pretended to be sick, where-
upon Qutaybah sent Dirar b. Sinan al-Dabbi to Waki as a spy.
Dirar swore allegiance to Waki’ secretly. In this manner,
Qutaybah learned that the soldiers were, in fact, swearing alle-
giance to Waki’, and Qutaybah now said to Dirar (b. Husayn),
*You spoke the truth.” He replied, ‘I reported to you nothing but
what I knew, but you attributed what I said to my envy. I have
fulfilled my obligation.” “You were right,”” said Qutaybah.

Now Qutaybah sent a message to Waki‘, summoning him, but
Qutaybah’s messenger found him with a sticky substance
smeared on his foot and beads and shells placed on his leg.56 He
was attended by two men from the Zahran, who were uttering
incantations over his foot. When the messenger said to Waki’,
“Answer the governor,” the latter replied, “You see the problem
with my foot.” The messenger then returned to Qutaybah, who
sent him back to Waki’, saying, ““Qutaybah says to you, ' Come to
me carried on a litter.””” Waki® answered, *I cannot.” Qutaybah
said to Sharik b. al-Samit al-Bahili, one of the Banii Wa'il—the
commander of his guard—and to a man from the Ghani, “Go to
Waki' and bring him to me. If he refuses, cut off his head.” He sent

66. Text: wa-'ald sdaqihi kharazan wa-wada'an. See Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, V, 16:
wa-‘allaqa “alé ra’sihi hirzan, 'He tied an amulet on his head.”
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horsemen with them—some say that Warga’ b. Nagr al-Bahili
was the commander of the guard in Khurasan.

According to ‘Ali—Abi al-Dhayyal—Thumamah b. Najidh
al-*‘Adawi: Qutaybah sent someone to fetch Waki', and I said, I
will bring him to you, may God cause you to prosper.” Qutaybah
said, “Bring him to me.” So I went to Waki‘, who had already been
informed that the horsemen were on their way. When he saw me,
he said, “O Thumamah, summon the troops.” I called out, and
the first one to arrive was Huraym b. Abi Tahmah, with eight
men.

Al-Hasan b. Rushayd al-Juzjani related: Qutaybah sent for
Waki‘, and Huraym said, “I will bring him to you,” whereupon
Qutaybah replied, “Go.” Huraym reported: I mounted my horse,
fearing that he would recall me, and I went to Waki'. But he had
already set out.”

Kulayb b. Khalaf said: Qutaybah sent Shu‘bah b. Zahir,5” one of
the Banu Sakhr b. Nahshal, to Waki‘’. When he arrived, Waki"
exclaimed, "O Ibn Zahir, wait a while until the cavalry catch up.”
Then Waki‘ called for a knife and cut off the beads that were on
his legs. Next, he put on his armor and quoted the verse:

Tightly tie my navel so that it will not burst.
One day for the Hamdan and one day for the Sadif.58

Waki set out by himself, and some women who noticed him said,
“Aba Mutarrifé? is alone.” It was at this moment that Huraym b.
Abi Tahmah arrived with eight men, including ‘Amirat al-Barid’®
b. Rabi‘ah al-‘Ujayfi.

According to Hamzah b. Ibrahim and others: Waki® set out and
was met by a man who asked, “What is your tribe?’”’ He answered,
“The Banit Asad.” The man then asked, “What is your name?”
He replied, “Dirghamah.” He asked, “The son of whom?” He
answered, ““Ibn Layth.” The man said, “Take this banner.”

According to al-Mufaddal b. Muhammad al-Dabbi: Waki‘ gave
his banner to ‘Ugbah b. Shihab al-Mazini.

Then retuming to our original chain of transmission, our

67. Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, V, 16: Zuhayr; cf. below, pp. 150-53, 159.

68. See Kifi, Futih, VI, 270.

69. Waki'’s patronymic was Aba Mutarrif. See note 59 above.

70. Text: “Amirah b. al-Barid; read ‘Amirat al-Barid, following the Cairo ed.
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source said: When Waki' set out, he ordered his servants, saying,
“Take my baggage to (my) paternal cousins.” They replied, “We
do not know where their camp is.”” He said, “‘Look for two spears
that have been tied together, one on top of the other, with a
nosebag on top of them. They are my paternal cousins.” There
were five hundred of them in the army.

Waki' called out to the troops, who approached him, one com-
pany after the other, from every direction. He set out, leading the
troops, saying:

A brave man who, when he is required to carry out an onerous
task,
keeps his ribs and his bosom tightly drawn.”!

Some people said that when Waki‘ set out he recited:

Do we face Lugmin b. ‘Ad”2 and his type?
Bring me my sword. They shall not carry off an unarmed
man.

Qutaybah was joined by the members of his household and the
chiefs from among his companions and trusted supporters, in-
cluding: lyas b. Bayhas b. ‘Amr, Qutaybah'’s paternal cousin, who
was closely related, and ‘Abdallah b. Wa’lan al-"Adawi, with men
from his tribe, the Bant Wa'il. Hayyan b. lyas al-"Adawi came to
him with ten men, including ‘Abd al-'Aziz b. al-Harith.

Maysarah al-Jadali, who was a brave man, came to him, saying,
“If you want, I will bring you Waki*’s head.” He said, ‘‘Stay where
you are.” Qutaybah ordered one of his men, saying, “Call out
among the soldiers, ‘Where are the Bani ‘Amir?’ 73 He called
out, “Where are the Banii ‘Amir?” Mihfan b. Jaz’ al-Kilabi’4 said,
“Where you placed them’’—Qutaybah had treated them roughly.
Qutaybah then said, ““Call out, ‘I remind you of God and our
kinship.’”” But Mihfan called out, “You severed the ties of rela-

71. This saying means that a brave man gets himself fully ready for the task. See
text below, 11/1298, where the verse is repeated with a slight variant; see also Kifi,
Futah, VI, 271.

72. Lugmain b. ‘Ad was a legendary hero of pre-Islamic Arabia, famous for his
wisdom and longevity. See EI2, s.v. Lukman.

73. The Banu “Amir b. Sa'sa‘ah, of the Qays. See Caskel, Gamharah, I, 92.

74. Ibn al-Athir (Kamil, V, 16) gives his name as Muhaqgqir b. Jaz’ al-'Ala‘i. Both
men were from the Qays.
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tionship.” Qutaybah said, “Call out, ‘Accept our conciliation.’”’
But Mihfan, or someone else, called out, “No, may God never
forgive us if we do.” Qutaybah then recited:

O my soul, endure the pain with patience,
since I have not found equals to the tribe’s eminent ones.

Then Qutaybah called for a turban that his mother had sent
him, put it on—it was his custom to wear it in times of diffi-
culty—and called for one of his well-trained horses that he con-
sidered lucky in war.”5 The horse was brought close to him so
that he might mount it, but it started to jump about until it
exhausted him. When Qutaybah saw this, he returned to his
couch, lay down, and said, “Let it be, for this is God’s will.””76

Hayyan al-Nabati approached, leading the non-Arabs, and made
his stand, even though Qutaybah was angry with him, and ‘Abdal-
lah b. Muslim’? made his stand next to him. “‘Abdallah said to
Hayyan, “Attack both wings.” When he answered, "It is not time
for that,” “Abdallah became angry and said, “Give me my bow.”
Hayyin said, “This is not a day for the bow.” Waki* then sent a
message to Hayyan that said, “’I am waiting for you to fulfill your
promise.” Hayyan said to his son, “When you see me turn my cap
around and move in the direction of Waki‘’s troops, bring to me
the non-Arabs who are with you.” Ibn Hayyan stood with the
non-Arabs and, when Hayyan tumed his cap around, they moved
in the direction of Waki's troops, whereupon his followers ex-
claimed, “God is great.”

Qutaybah sent his brother, Salih, to the soldiers, but he was
wounded in the head by a man from the Banu Dabbah known as
Sulayman al-Zanjirj, that is, the Carob’3—some say that he was
shot by one of (Waki‘’s) paternal cousins.”® Salih was carried to
Qutaybah, his head leaning to the side, and placed in his prayer
room. Qutaybah shifted his position and sat with Salih for a
while. Then he went back to his couch.

75. Text: kana yatatayyir ilayhi fi-1-zubif.

76. Text: fa-inna hddha amrun yurad. Compare text below, 1171295, where a
parallel passage specifies inna lahu la-sha'n.

77. That is, Qutaybah’s brother.

78. Text: al-Khumib. Kisfi {Futiih, VII, 273) gives his nickname as Barih Atranj.

79- Text: Bal'amm, an abbreviated form of bani-l"amm, “the paternal
cousins.”
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Aba al-Sari al-Azdi said: Salih was shot and felled by a man
from the Bani Dabbah; he was then stabbed by Ziyad b. ‘Abd al-
Rahman al-Azdi, one of the Banu Sharik b. Malik.

Abi Mikhnaf said: A man from the Ghani attacked the troops
and saw a man who was wearing a coat of mail.80 He mistook him
for Jahm b. Zahr b. Qays and stabbed him, saying:

The Ghani are mighty and trustworthy
when they go to war, even if the other soldiers quarrel
among themselves.

But the man who was stabbed was a non-Arab, and the troops
were aroused. ‘Abd al-Rahman b. Muslim advanced toward them,
but he was stoned to death by the market people and the rabble.
The soldiers set fire to an enclosure containing Qutaybah’s cam-
els and riding animals; they closed in on him. Fighting for him
was a man from the Bahilah, from the Bana Wa'il, and Qutaybah
said to him, ‘‘Save yourself.” But he replied, “How miserable a
repayment, in that case, for you gave me bread to eat and soft
clothes to wear."’8!

Qutaybah now called for a riding animal. A horse was brought
to him, but it would not stand still long enough for him to mount
it. He said, “There is something the matter with it.””82 So he did
not mount the horse but sat, and the troops advanced toward the
tent. When the troops reached the tent, Iyas b. Bayhas and “‘Abdal-
lah b. Wa'lan fled, abandoning Qutaybah. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. al-
Harith went out looking for his son, ‘Amr—or ‘Umar; al-Ta'i met
him but was wary of engaging him, so that "Abd al-*Aziz found his
son, who mounted the horse behind his father.

Qutaybah observed al-Haytham b. al-Munakhkhal, who was
one of those who had plotted against him, and said:

1 used to teach him to shoot every day.
However, when his arm became well-trained with the
bow,83 he shot at me.

80. Text: mujaffaf, from tijfdf, which Lane defines as ““a kind of armor with
which 2 horse is clad in war, in the manner of a coat of mail.” See Lexicon, pt. 2, p.
432.

81. Kifi, who identifies the man as a certain Junadah, adds: “So he fought and
was slain.”” See Futiih, VII, 275.

82. Text: inna lahu la-sha’n. See note 76, above.

83. Text: istadda; the Cairo ed. has ishtadda, “when he became powerful.”
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Slain along with Qutaybah were his brothers, ‘Abd al-Rahman,
‘Abdallah, Salih, Husayn, and ‘Abd al-Karim, the sons of Muslim.
His son, Kathir b. Qutaybah, was also slain, as were several mem-
bers of his household. But his brother, Dirar, escaped, having been
saved by his maternal uncles—the latter’s mother was Gharra’ bt.
Dirar b. al-Qa‘qa‘ b. Ma‘bad b. Zurarah.

Some people said: ‘Abd al-Karim b. Muslim was killed in
Qazwin .84

According to Abii ‘Ubaydah— Abu Malik: They slew Qutaybah
in the year 96/715. Eleven of Muslim’s descendants were slain—
Waki‘ crucified them. Seven of them were the sons of Muslim,
and four were grandsons: Qutaybah, ‘Abd al-Rahman, ‘Abdallah
al-Faqir, ‘Ubaydallah, Salih, Bashshar, and Muhammad, the sons
of Muslim; and Kathir b. Qutaybah and Mughallis b. ‘Abd al-
Rahman (and two others, the grandsons).85 None of Muslim's
sons escaped, except for ‘Amr, who was the govemor of al-Juz-
jan,86 and Dirar, whose mother was al-Gharra’ bt. Dirar b. al-
Qa‘qa‘ b. Ma‘bad b. Zurarah; his maternal uncles came and re-
moved him {from his position), thereby saving him.87

Al-Farazdaq recited about this:

The evening that Ibn Gharra’ did not wish—when he called
out—that he had parents from a tribe other than us.88

Iyas b. ‘Amr, the nephew of Muslim b. ‘Amr, was wounded in
the collarbone, but he lived.

The source continued: When the tribe overran the great tent,
they cut its ropes.

According to Zuhayr: Jahm b. Zahr said to Sa‘d,?® “Dismount
and cut off his head, for he has been weakened by the wounds.”

84. A famous city 102 km. from al-Rayy and 72 km. from Abhar. See Yaqut,
Mu'jam, IV, 342—44; ER, s.v. Kazwin; Le Strange, Lands, 218-20.

8s. Compare Kifi, Futiih, VI, 274~75; Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, V, 17.

86. Al-Juzjan was one of the districts of Balkh, in Khurisan. See Yaqut, Mu'jam,
I, 182-83.

87. Text: najjawhu; read nahhawhu, following the Cairo ed. Compare Ibn al-
Athir, Kamil, V, 17-18, where it is ‘Umar [sic] b. Muslim, who is saved by his
maternal uncles.

88. See Diwan, 11, 332. “Ibn Gharra’” refers to Dirar b. Muslim, Qutaybah’s
brother, who was dismissed as governor of Khurasan by Sulaymin b. "Abd al-
Malik. Compare text below, II/1301.

89. This man was probably Sa‘'d b. Najd al-Azdi. See Kafi, Futiih, VII, 275.
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Sa‘d replied, I fear that the horses will bolt.” Jahm exclaimed,
“’You are afraid, though I am next to you!”” Sa'd dismounted, split
the top of the tent, and cut off his head. Hudayn b. al-Mundhir
recited:

Verily, Ibn Sa‘d and Ibn Zahr took turns

with their swords on the head of the crowned hero.
The evening that we brought Ibn Zahr and you brought

a black-nosed {man) with brands on his arms, blackish,
Deaf, from the Ghudanah, as if his forehead

were a blot of ink on a skin that had been scrawled over.90

When Maslamah slew Yazid b. al-Muhallab, he appointed Sa‘id
Khudhaynah b. ‘Abd al-*Aziz b. al-Hirith b. al-Hakam b. Abi al-‘As
governor of Khurasin, and Yazid’s subgovernors were impris-
oned.®! Among those imprisoned was Jahm b. Zahr al-Ju‘fi, who
was tortured by a man from the Bahilah. Someone said to the
Bahili tribesman, “This is Qutaybah’s murderer,” whereupon he
tortured him to death. Sa‘id criticized him for this, but the man
retorted, “‘You ordered me to extract money from him,; I tortured
him, and it was his time to die.”

On the day that Qutaybah was slain, one of his Khwarazmian
slave girls was with him; when he was slain, she fled. Subse-
quently, Yazid b. al-Muhallab captured her. She is Umm Khu-
laydah.

According to ‘Ali—Hamzah b. Ibrahim and Abu al-Yaqzan:
When Qutaybah was slain, ‘Umarah b. Junayyah®? al-Riyahi as-
cended the pulpit and spoke at length. Waki' said to him, “Spare
us your filth and gossip.” Then Waki' began to speak, saying,
“The likes of me and the likes of Qutaybah are as the first one
said:

He who fucks an ass fucks a catamite.®3

Qutaybah sought to slay me, but I am deadly.

90. Text: ka-anna jabinahu lutakhat nigs fi adim mumaijmaj. See Naka'id Jarir
wa-1-Farazdagq, 1, 362.

91. See text below, 11/1417, sub anno 102.

92. The vocalization of Junayyah is conjectural.

93. See text above, I/901.

[1298]



[1299]

22 The Caliphate of Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik

They tried me once; then they tried me again,
from a distance of two bow shots and from a distance of a
hundred bow shots.

Until, when I grew old and they gave me white hair,
they gave up on my rein and avoided me.

I am Aba Mutarrif!”
According to Abii Mu‘awiyah—Talhah b. Iyas: Waki' recited on
the day that Qutaybah was slain:

I am the son of Khindif.#4 Her tribes ascribe
good deeds to me. And my paternal uncle is Qays ‘Aylan.%®

Then he grabbed his beard and recited:

A shaykh who, when he is required to carry out an onerous
task,
keeps his ribs and his bosom tightly drawn.¢

“By God, I will slay, indeed I will slay, and I will crucify, indeed I
will crucify. I want to taste blood. This Marzuban®’ of yours, the
son of the adulteress, has inflated the prices of your goods. By
God, if he does not set the price of one gafiz®® in the market
tomorrow at four (dirhams), I will crucify him. Remember the
Prophet in your prayers.” Then he stepped down from the pulpit.

According to ‘Ali—al-Mufaddal b. Muhammad and a shaykh
from the Banit Tamim, and Maslamah b. Muharib: Waki' de-
manded Qutaybah’s head and his signet ring but was told, “The
Azd have taken it.” Waki' emerged, saying, “You have added
falsehood to falsehood, O Sa‘d the blacksmith.’”9?

94. The Khindif was a major division of the Mudar that included the Hudhay],
the Tamim, and the Kinanah. See EI2, s.v. Djazirat al-"Arab.

9{. Qays ‘Aylin was one of the two subdivisions of Mudar. See EI2, s.v. Kays
"Aylan.

96. Compare text above, 11/1293.

97. By referring to Qutaybah as a Marzubin, the Arabic form of the title of
provincial governors in the Sasanian Empire, Waki' likened him to an alien gran-
dee after the Iranian fashion. See El, s.v. Marzuban.

98. A qafiz is a measure of dry goods equivalent to eight makakik or twelve sa'.
See Kazimirski, Dictionnaire, 11, 788; Hinz, Islamische Masse und Gewichte, 48—
50.

99. Text: Duh durrayni Sa‘'d alqayni, a proverbial expression. See Lane,
Lexicon, pt. 3, pp- 922—23, s.v. dahdara.
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On which of my two days will I escapel?0 from death,
a day that has not been ordained or a day that has been?
There is no good in a broad-breasted horse, the fleet
ones that run in the races,
Is there a day on which I will neither frighten (others)
nor be frightened {myselif}?

“By God—than Whom there is no other God—I will not leave
until either Qutaybah’s head is brought to me, or my head is
added to his.” Then he brought some wooden stakes and said,
“These horses must have riders’’—thereby alluding to the threat
of crucifixion. Hudayn said to him, “O Aba Mutarrif, it will be
brought to you, so calm down.”

Hudayn came to the Azd and said, “Are you fools? We swore
allegiance to Waki' and accepted his leadership. He exposed him-
self to danger, and then you take Qutaybah’s head! Give it up,”
that is, the head, “may God curse it.” They brought out the head,
saying, O Aba Mutarrif, this person is the one who cut it off, so
reward him.” He agreed and gave him three thousand dirhams.
He sent the head (to Sulayman) with Salit b. *Abd al-Karim al-
Hanafi and men from the various tribes—who were led by Salit—
but he did not send anyone from the Banii Tamim:.

According to Abu al-Dhayyal: Among those who accompanied
the head was Unayf b. Hassan, one of the Bana ‘Adi.

According to Abu Mikhnaf: Waki‘ paid Hayyan al-Nabati in
return for what the latter had given him.!0!

According to Khuraym b. Abi Yahya—shaykhs from the Qays:
Sulayman asked al-Hudhayl b. Zufar, when Qutaybah’s head and
the heads of the members of his household were put in front of
him, “Does this distress you, Hudhayl?""192 He replied, “If it
distresses me, it distresses many others as well.” Then Khuraym
b. ‘"Amr!93 and al-Qa‘qa’ b. Khulayd!®4 spoke to Sulayman saying,

100. Text: afir; read afirru, following the Cairo ed.
101. See text above, I1/1291.
102. Zufar’s family were considered to be the very incarnation of Qaysiyyah.
See Crone, Slaves, 108.

103. Khuraym b. "Amr al-Murri seems to have been implicated in Qutaybah’s
revolt. See text below, 11/1312, sub anno 97; Crone, Slaves, 98, no. 6.

104. Al-Qa’qa’ appears to have supported al-Walid’s efforts to deprive Sulayman
of the succession. See text below, II/1312, sub anno 97; Crone, Slaves, 105-6, n.
Is.
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““Grant permission to bury their heads.” He said, “Certainly, for I
did not want any of this.”

According to ‘Ali—Abu ‘Abdallah al-Sulami—Yazid b. Suwayd:
A Persian from the army of Khurasan said: “O ye Arabs, you have
slain Qutaybah. By God, had Qutaybah been one of us and had he
died among us, we would have put him in a coffin that would
have served as a mascot for us in our raids. Nobody ever accom-
plished in Khurasin what Qutaybah did. Nevertheless, he be-
trayed (us). This is because al-Hajjaj wrote to him, saying, ‘Lay a
trap for them and slay them, for the sake of God.’”

According to al-Hasan b. Rushayd: The isbahbadh!©5 said to a
man, “O ye Arabs, you have slain Qutaybah and Yazid, 196 the two
lords of the Arabs.” The man asked, “Which of the two, in your
opinion, was more awesome and commanded more respect?’”’ The
isbahbadh replied, “If Qutaybah were in the Maghrib, in the
deepest hole in the earth, tied up in chains, and Yazid was with us,
in our country, serving as our governor, Qutaybah would still be
more awesome and more highly respected than Yazid.”

According to ‘Ali—al-Mufaddal b. Muhammad al-Dabbi: A
man approached Qutaybah on the day he died, while he was hold-
ing court, and said, “Today the King of the Arabs will be slain”’—
they considered Qutaybah to be the King of the Arabs. Qutaybah
said to him, ““Sit down!”

According to Kulayb b. Khalaf-—a man from among those who
were with Waki‘' when Qutaybah was slain: On Waki“’s order, a
man called out, “No spoils are to be taken from any corpse.” But
Ibn ‘Abid al-Hajari passed by Abu al-Hujr al-Bahili and stripped
him. When Waki‘ was informed of this, he cut off the man's head.

According to Abi ‘Ubaydah—‘Abdallah b. ‘Umar from the
Taym Allat: Waki‘ mounted his horse one day, and they brought
him a man who was drunk. On his order, the man was killed.
Someone said to Waki', “He deserved to be flogged, 197 not killed.”
He replied, “I punish with the sword, not the whip.”

105. Isbahbadh in Persian means “army chief’”’; it is the Islamic form of a
military title used in the pre-Islamic Persian Empires. See EI2, s.v. Ispahbadh.

106. Yazid b. al-Muhallab was slain in the year 102/720-21. See text below,
I/ 1405, sub anno 102.

107. Text: hadd, a term that refers to certain acts, namely, unlawful inter-
course, false accusation of unlawful intercourse, drinking wine, theft, and high-
way robbery, which have been forbidden or sanctioned by punishments in the
Qur’an. The punishment for drinking wine is eighty lashes. See EI2, s.v. Hadd.



The Events of the Year 96 {cont’d) 25

Nahar b. Tawsi‘ah!98 recited:

We used to cry because of al-Bahilj,
but this Ghudani is much more evil.1??

He also recited:

When we saw al-Bihilj, Ibn Muslim,
acting tyrannically, we struck him on the head with a
sharp sword.

Al-Farazdaq recited, recalling the battle of Waki':

To us belongs the one who drew swords and sheathed them,
the evening of the battle of the Gate of al-Qasr, from
Farghanah.!!0

The evening that no tribe could defend its sons
by invoking an Iraqi or Yemenite glory.

The evening that Ibn Gharra’ did not wish—when he called
out—that he had parents from a tribe other than us.

The evening that the Hawazin of ‘Amir and Ghatafin
did not cover the nakedness of Ibn Dukhan.!1!

The evening that the people wished to be our slaves,
when the two armies were fighting.

They saw one mountain towering over the others, 112 when the
heads of their two leaders met, butting together.

Men for Islam who, as soon as they fought
for religion, caused it to spread in every place.

Until a herald called out from the walls of every city,
issuing the call to prayer.

But Waki* will be rewarded in the name of the community,
since he realized
its solidarity with a cutting sword and spearhead.

A reward for the deeds of men, just as a reward was given
at Badr and al-Yarmuk from the shades of Paradise.!13

108. See Ibn Qutaybah, Shi‘r, 1, 448-49, no. 9s.

109. “Al-Bahili” refers to Qutaybah and “Ghudani” to Waki".
110. See EI, s.v. Farghana.

111. Ibn Dukhan is the nickname of Bahilah, Qutaybah’s tribe.

112. The text is ya'li-1-jibal. Diwan, l, 332, has dagqa-1-jibal, “They saw one

mountain crushing the others.”
113. See Diwidn, 1, 331-32.

[r302]



[1303]

26 The Caliphate of Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik

Al-Farazdaq also recited about this:

I received the news, when my saddlebags were in Medina,
about a battle waged by the family of Tamim,; it was
satisfying and comforting.!!4

According to ‘Ali—Khuraym b. Abi Yahya—one of his paternal
uncles—shaykhs from the Ghassan: We were in the gap of
al-‘Ugqab!'s when suddenly we encountered a man carrying a stick
and a leather bag who looked like one of the Caliph’s messengers.
We asked, “Where have you come from?” He replied, “From
Khurisan.” We asked, “Is there any news?” He replied, “Yes,
Qutaybah b. Muslim was slain yesterday.” We were amazed at his
statement, and, seeing that we did not believe him, he asked,
““How far shall I be from Ifrigiyah tonight, do you think?”’ He set
off and we followed him on our horses, but he was so fast that he
disappeared at the blink of an eye.

Al-Tirimmah!!6 recited:

Had it not been for the horsemen of Madhhij, the daughter of
Madhbhij, and (the horsemen of}) Azd, the army would have
been discomfited and plundered

And dispersed in the lands, and nobody bringing news
about them would have returned to the army of Iraq.

The bonds of the community would have been loosened, scorn
heaped on the authority of the Caliph, and illicit doings
would have become permissible.

People who slew Qutaybah by violence,
while the horses were racing inclined to the ground,
covered with dust.

In the meadow, the meadow of al-Sin, where
the Mudar of Iraq understood who was the noblest and
greatest.

When all of Rabi‘ah gave themselves up to despair,

114. Text: aq’adat kulla gd’im, literally, “It caused every standing person to sit
down.” See ibid., II, 310, 1.4.

115. A gap in the mountains overlooking the oasis of Damascus. See Yaqit,
Mu'jam, IV, 133.

116. Al- Tmmmah b. Hakim al-Ta‘i was a celebrated poet of the first century of
Islam. See E/, s.v. al-Tirimmah; Ibn Qutaybah, Shi'r, 1I, §85—90, no. 160.
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and the Mudar and those who claimed to belong to the
Mudar were scattered abroad.

And the Azd of Iraq and the Madhhij advanced
toward death, one common ancestor uniting them both.

The Qahtan were smiting the head of every full-armed warrior;
they protect their eyes, but they do not see.!l”

And the Azd know that under their standard is either a
glorious sovereignty or bloody death.

For by our strength the Prophet Muhammad triumphed,
and through us it has come to pass that the pulpit is firmly
established in Damascus.!18

‘Abd al-Rahman b. Jumanah al-Bahili recited:

It is as if Aba Hafs Qutaybah never led
one army to the other, and never ascended a pulpit.

And the flags did not flutter when the tribe was standing
around him, and the people never witnessed an army under
his command.

The Fates called him, so he answered his Lord
and went to Paradise, chaste and pure.

Islam did not suffer a loss—after Muhammad—
like that of Abu Hafs. So moum him, ‘Abhar.!1?

“Abhar” refers to an umm walad'?9 belonging to Qutaybah.
Al-Asamm b. al-Haijj3j recited, elegizing Qutaybah:

Is it not time for the living to recognize {(our distinction) for us?
Surely we are the people most deserving of praise and
glory.
We lead the Tamim, the clients, and the Madhbhij,
the Azd, ‘Abd al-Qays, and the tribe from Bakr.
We massacre whomever we wish by the power of our [1304]
sovereignty,

117. Text: tahmi basa’irahunna idh la tubsiru. See Diwan al-Tirimmab, p. 251,
where the text is wa-‘ald basd’itiha wa-idh la tubsiru “(smiting the head of every
full-armed warrior} and their eyes, and so they become unable to see.”

118. See The Diwans of at-Tufail and at-Tirimmah, 147 (Arabic text}, and 62
(translation).

119. See Naka'id Jarir wa-1-Farazdaq, |, 363.

120. An umm walad is a slave girl who has borne her master a child; she
becomes free on the death of her master. See EI, s.v. Umm al-Walad.
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and force whomever we wish to succumb to disgrace and
subjugation.

Sulaymian—Many are the soldiers that we rounded up for you
by our spears while our horses were riding at full speed.

Many are the impregnable fortresses that we ravaged.

And many are the lowlands and the rocky mountains.

And towns which no soldiers had raided before us,
we raided, driving the horses month after month.

Our horses became used to protracted raids, and to be quiet at
the sight of charging warriors so that they were no longer
frightened by them.

Even if the fire is kindled, and they are forced
toward the fire, they rush into the brunt of fire in war.

With their breasts they toy with spearheads and lances,
while death is surging with black waves.

With these horses we have ravaged many a city
of unbelievers, until they passed beyond the place where
the dawn breaks.

And if Fate had not hurried us, they would have carried
us beyond Dhi al-Qarnayn’s wall of rock and molten
brass.121

But the good Banii ‘Amr met their preordained fate
when their life-span came to an end.

In this year, Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik dismissed Khalid b.
‘Abdallah al-Qasri as governor of Mecca, replacing him with Tal-
hah b. Dawud al-Hadrami.

In this year, Maslamah b. ‘Abd al-Malik raided Byzantium in a
summer expedition and conquered a fortress (hisn) known as
“Hisn ‘Awf.”"122

In this year, Qurrah b. Sharik al-*Absi, the governor of Egypt,
died, in the month of Safar {October 16—-November 13), according
to some of the biographers. Others said: Qurrah died during the

121. Text: wa-l-qatri, “and rain”; read wa-I-qitri, which means molten brass.
Dhii al-Qamayn (“the two-horned one”) refers to Alexander the Great who, ac-
cording to Qur'an 18:82-98, was given power on earth. In response to an appeal
from oppressed people, he built a rampart of iron and brass against the incursions
of Gog and Magog. See EI2, s.v. al-Iskandar.

122. I have not been able to identify Hisn ‘Awf.
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lifetime of al-Walid (b. ‘Abd al-Malik}, in the year 95/714, in the
month in which al-Hajjaj died.'23

In this year, the pilgrimage was led by Aba Bakr b. Muhammad
b. ‘Amr b. Hazm al-Ansari—as I was told by Ahmad b. Thabit, on
the authority of the one he mentioned—on the authority of Ishaq
b. ‘Isi—on the authority of Aba Ma‘shar; and the same was relat-
ed by al-Waqidi and others.

The governor of Medina in this year was Abu Bakr b. Muham-
mad b. ‘Amr b. Hazm, and the governor of Mccca was ‘Abd
al-‘Aziz b. ‘Abdallah b. Khalid b. Asid.!24

In Iraq, Yazid b. al-Muhallab was in charge of military and reli-
gious affairs, and Salih b. “‘Abd al-Rahman was in charge of the
fiscal administration. Sufyan b. “Abdallah al-Kindi, serving on
behalf of Yazid b. al-Muhallab, was governor of al-Basrah. ‘Abd al-
Rahmin b. Udhaynah was in charge of the judiciary there.
In charge of the judiciary in al-Kafah was Aba Bakr b. Abi Misa.
Waki® b. Abi Sud was responsible for military affairs in
Khurasan.125

123. Al-Haijjaj died in Ramadin. See E2, s.v. al-Hadjdjadj b. Yasuf.

124. The identification of ‘Abd al-‘Aziz as the governor of Mecca may be a
mistake. See text below, 1I/1314, sub anno 97, where Tabari indicates that Talhah
b. Dawid continued to serve as governor of Mecca until the year 97/715~16, at
which time he was replaced by "Abd al-‘Aziz b. ‘Abdallah b. Khalid b. Asid.

125. See Ya'qubi, Ta'rikh, Il, 41; Wellhausen, Arab Kingdon, 444—45.
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Among the events taking place in this year: Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-
Malik equipped the armies and dispatched them to Constantino-
ple. He put his son, Dawiid b. Sulaymain, in charge of the summer
campaign, which resulted in the capture of Hisn al-Mar’ah.126

According to al-Wagidi, in this year Maslamah b. “‘Abd al-Malik
raided Byzantium and conquered the fortress that had previously
been taken by al-Waddah, the leader of the Waddahiyyah.127

In this year, ‘Umar!28 b. Hubayrah al-Fazari undertook a naval
expedition against Byzantium, where he spent the winter.

In this year, ‘Abd al-*Aziz b. Musa b. Nusayr was killed in al-
Andalus and Habib b. Abi ‘Ubayd al-Fihri brought his head to
Sulayman.

In this year, Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik appointed Yazid b. al-
Mubhallab as governor of Khurasan.!29

126. “The Woman'’s Fortress” was in the region of Malatyah. See text below,
I1/1335, sub anno 98.

127. The Waddihiyyah were a separate military regiment of non-Arabs, named
after their commander, a Berber freedman of ‘Abd al-Malik. See Crone, Slaves, 38.

128. Text: ‘Amr; read ‘Umar, following the Cairo ed.

129. See Ibn Khayyas, Ta'rikh, 1, 319; Ya‘qubi, Ta'rikh, I, 41; Kafi, Futih, V11,
278-8s; Ibn Kathir, Bidayah, IX, 170.
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The Appointment of Yazid b. al-Muhallab as
Governor of Khurdsan

The circumstances: When Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik became
Caliph, he put Yazid b. al-Muhallab in charge of military, re-
ligious, and fiscal affairs in Iraq.

According to Hisham b. Muhammad—Aba Mikhnaf: Upon
being given these responsibilities in Iraq, Yazid reflected as fol-
lows: “Iraq has been ruined by al-Hajjij. Today I am the hope of
the people of Iraq. But if I go there and force the people to pay the
tribute and punish them for nonpayment, I will have become just
like al-Hajjaj, throwing the people into conflict and returning
them to those prisons from which God had released them. On the
other hand, if I do not send Sulayman an amount equal to what
was collected by al-Hajjaj, he will not be pleased with me.”
Therefore, Yazid approached Sulayman, saying, ‘I should like to
bring to your attention a man who is very skillful in collecting
the tribute, and whom you may want to put in charge of that
function, so that you will receive it from him: Salih b. ‘Abd al-
Rahbman, a client of the Bania Tamim.” Sulayman said to him,
"We accept your suggestion.” Whereupon Yazid set off for Iraq.

According to “Umar b. Shabbah—‘Ali: Salih preceded Yazid to
Iraq, where he established himself in Wasit.!30

According to ‘Ali—‘Abbad b. Ayyub: Yazid approached, and the
troops went out to meet him. Someone said to S$ilih, “Yazid is
here, and the troops have gone out to meet him.” However, he did
not go out until Yazid drew near to the city. Then Salih went out,
wearing a tunic {durra‘ah)'3! and (carrying) a small, yellow mace.
He was leading four hundred men from the Syrian army. He met
Yazid and traveled along with him. When Yazid entered the city,
Salih pointed to a house, saying, “I have emptied this house for
you.” Yazid dismounted and $alih went to his residence.

Salih placed severe restraints upon Yazid, refusing to transfer
any money to him. Yazid prepared one thousand tables to feed his

130. Wasit was built by al-Hajjaj b. Yasuf in 83-84/702—3 and served as the

capital of Iraq for most of the Umayyad period; the city was called “Wasi¢”
{middle) because it was equidistant between al-Kifah and al-Basrah. See EI, s.v.
Wasit.

131. See Dozy, Vétements, 177-81.

[1307]
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men, but Salih seized them. Yazid said to him, “Charge the cost
of the tables to me.” Yazid purchased many goods and wrote
checks!32 to Salih for the benefit of the vendors; however, Salih
would not accept the checks, and they referred to Yazid. Yazid
became angry and said, “'I have brought this upon myself.” Soon
thereafter, Salih came, and Yazid set aside a place for him. He sat
down and said to Yazid, “What are these checks? The levies are
not to be used for those purposes. Several days ago I cashed a
check for one hundred thousand dirhams, and I have paid your
{soldiers’} stipends promptly, and when you asked for money for
the army, I gave it to you. But this expense cannot be covered.!33
The Commander of the Faithful will not be pleased, and you will
be questioned about it.”” Yazid said to him, “O Abu al-Walid,
accept these checks, just this once.” And he joked with him. Salih
asked, “If I allow them, will you not ask me again?’’ Yazid re-
plied, “No, I will not.”

According to ‘Ali b. Muhammad—Maslamah b. Muharib, Aba
al-‘Ala’ al-Taymi, al-Tufayl b. Mirdas al-‘Ammi, and Aba Hafs al-
Azdi—his source—Jahm b. Zahr b. Qays and al-Hasan b. Ru-
shayd—Sulayman b. Kathir and Aba al-Hasan al-Khurasani—al-
Kirmani, ‘Amir b. Hafs, and Abia Mikhnaf—"Uthman b. ‘Amr b.
Mihsan al-Azdi, Zuhayr b. Hunayd, and others—the reports of
some of these men contain details not contained in the reports of
others, and I (that is, Tabari) have collated them: Sulayman b.
‘Abd al-Malik appointed Yazid b. al-Muhallab as governor of Iraq,
not of Khurisan. Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik asked ‘Abd al-Malik
b. al-Muhallab, when the latter was in Syria and Yazid was in
Iraq, “What would you think, O ‘Abd al-Malik, if I appointed you
as governor of Khurasan?” He replied, ““The Commander of the
Faithful will find me wherever he wants.” Subsequently, how-
ever, Sulaymin’s attention was diverted from that.

Our source continued: ‘Abd al-Malik b. al-Muhallab wrote to
Jarir b. Yazid al-Jahdami and to some of his close associates, say-
ing, “The Commander of the Faithful has offered me the gover-
norship of Khurasan.”” The news reached Yazid b. al-Muhallab in

132. On the use of checks and other instruments of credit, see Dictionary of the
Middle Ages, s.v. Banking, Islamic.
113. Salih is referring to the expense for the one thousand tables.
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Iraq, where he was greatly vexed because Salih b. “Abd al-Rahman
was placing severe constraints upon him in such a way that Yazid
could not attain anything he wanted. Yazid summoned ‘Abdallah
b. al-Ahtam, saying, ““I need your assistance in a matter that has
been troubling me and I want you to resolve it for me.” He said, “I
am at your command.” He said, "/As you see, I am in straitened
circumstances, and this has made me uneasy. At the same time,
Khurasian has no governor, and I have learned that the Com-
mander of the Faithful has offered this position to ‘Abd al-Malik
b. al-Muhallab. Is there any stratagem we might employ (to get
it}?” He said, “Yes. Send me to the Commander of the Faithful,
and I hope to bring you your document of appointment as gover-
nor of Khurasan.” Yazid said, “Don’t tell anyone about our con-
versation.” Yazid wrote two letters to Sulayman: In the first, he
mentioned the condition of Iraq and spoke highly of Ibn al-
Ahtam, stressing the latter’s knowledge of the country. He dis-
patched Ibn al-Ahtam on a post-horse, giving him thirty thousand
dirhams. He traveled for seven nights bringing Yazid’s letter to
Sulayman. When he reached Sulaymain, the Caliph was dining, so
he sat off to the side and ate two hens that were brought to him.

Ibn al-Ahtam entered, and Sulayman said to him, “I will re-
ceive you on another occasion.” Then Sulaymin summoned him
three nights later and said to him, “Yazid b. al-Muhallab wrote to
me, praising you and mentioning your expertise with regard to
Iraq and Khurasan. What is the extent of your knowledge about
these countries?”” Ibn al-Ahtam replied, “I know more about
them than anyone, for I was born and raised there, and I have
knowledge and information about them and their people.” Sulay-
man said, “The Commander of the Faithful needs someone like
you to advise him about Iraq and Khurasin. Whom do you recom-
mend that I appoint as governor of Khurasan?” Ibn al-Ahtam
answered, “The Commander of the Faithful knows best whom he
wants to appoint as governor, but if he mentions the name of a
candidate, I will tell him whether or not I think he is qualified for
the appointment.”

Sulayman mentioned the name of a man from the Quraysh, and
Ibn al-Ahtam said, “O Commander of the Faithful, he is not the
real man for Khurasan.” Sulaymin then said, “Then ‘Abd al-
Malik b. al-Muhallab.” He said, “No.” The Caliph enumerated

[1309]
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the names of many men, the last one being that of Waki' b. Abi
Sad. Ibn al-Ahtam said, O Commander of the Faithful, although
Waki' is bold, fearless, courageous, and brave, he is not right for
the job, for he has neither led three hundred men nor acknowl-
edged that he owes submission to anyone.”'34 The Caliph re-
sponded, ‘“You are right, woe unto you, so whom?” Ibn al-Ahtam
said, “There is one man whom I know and whose name you have
not mentioned.” He asked, “Who is he?” Ibn al-Ahtam replied, "1
will not disclose his name unless the Commander of the Faithful
assures me that he will keep this matter secret, and that he will
protect me frcm the person in question should the latter learn of
it.” The Calioh said, “Agreed. Name him. Who is he?”” He said,
“Yazid b. al-Muhallab.” [The Caliph] said, “But he is in Iraq,
which he prefers to Khurasan.” He said, “That is true, O Com-
mander of the Faithful, but if you compelled him to transfer, he
would appoint a deputy governor over Iraq and go.” At that, the
Caliph said, ‘“That is a good idea.” Sulayman then wrote a docu-
ment in which he appointed Yazid as governor of Khurasan. He
also wrote him a letter, saying: “I found Ibn al-Ahtam to be as
intelligent, pious, virtuous, and as wise as you mentioned.” He
gave the letter to Ibn al-Ahtam, together with Yazid’s document
of appointment. Seven nights after setting out, Ibn al-Ahtam
reached Yazid, who asked him, “What news have you brought
me?”’ '
Ibn al-Ahtam gave him the letter, causing Yazid to exclaim,
““Woe is you! Don’t you have anything better than this?"’ Then he
gave him the document of appointment, whereupon Yazid or-
dered that provisions be made for setting out immediately; he
summoned his son, Makhlad,!35 sending him ahead to Khurasan.
Makhlad set out that very day, and Yazid set out soon there-
after, having designated al-Jarrah b. ‘Abdallah al-Hakami as his
representative in Wisit, and ‘Abdallah b. Hilal al-Kilabi as his
deputy in al-Basrah. He assigned to Marwin b. al-Mubhallab,

134. Text: fa-ra'a li-ahad ‘alayhi ta atan. See Kufi, Futah, V1, 279: wathiqa bi-
thalathimi'ah rajul min ashabihi la yara li-ahad *alayhi ta'ah, “1f he trusts three
hundred of his soldiers, he will not obey anyone who is over him.”

135. The text gives Makhlad, here, but Mukhallad below, 11/1312. I vocalize
this name as Makhlad throughout the translation.
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whom he considered the most trustworthy of his brothers, the
responsibility for his personal wealth and affairs in al-Basrah.
Abiti al-Baha’ al-lyadi recited to Marwian:

I found Aba Qabisah every day
to be the most noble among them under all circumstances.

When they refused to undertake f1311]
the heavy part of the affair, he took on what he could.

And if they are overwhelmed by something,
you excel them in magnanimity and generosity.

As for Abii ‘Ubaydah Ma‘mar b. al-Muthanna—Aba Malik:
When Waki‘ b. Abi Sid sent an expression of his obedience, to-
gether with Qutaybah’s head, to Sulayman, that made a great
impression on the Caliph. But Yazid b. al-Muhallab promised
‘Abdallah b. al-Ahtam one hundred thousand dirhams on the con-
dition that he denounce Waki‘ in the presence of Sulayman.
Therefore, Ibn al-Ahtam said to the Caliph: “May God cause the
Commander of the Faithful to prosper! By God, there is no one
who is more deserving of my gratitude and no one who has ren-
dered me greater services than Waki‘. He took blood revenge on
my behalf and dealt with my enemy to my contentment. Never-
theless, my duty to the Commander of the Faithful is greater and
more compelling, and the obligation to provide good counsel re-
quires me to inform the Commander of the Faithful that Waki*
never assembled one hundred horsemen without thinking of an
act of perfidy. He is nobody where the collective good is con-
cemmed, but remarkable in mischief.” Sulayman said, “He is not,
therefore, one of those upon whom we can call for help.”

Now the Qays were claiming that Qutaybah had not thrown off
allegiance to the Caliph. When Sulayman put Yazid b. al-
Muhallab in charge of military affairs in Iraq, he gave him the
following order: “If the Qays can prove that Qutaybah did not
throw off allegiance and did not withdraw obedience, then retali-
ate against Waki' for him.” But Yazid acted treacherously. He did
not give ‘Abdallih b. al-Ahtam what he had promised him and he
sent his son, Makhlad b. Yazid, against Waki".

The transmission of the account returns to ‘Ali. According to
‘Ali—Abua Mikhnaf—‘Uthman b. ‘Amr b. Mihsan and Abu al-
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Hasan al-Khurasani—al-Kirmani: Yazid sent his son, Makhlad, to
Khurasan. When Makhlad approached Marw, he sent ahead ‘Amr
b. ‘Abdallah b. Sinan al-*Ataki {also, al-Sunabihi). Upon his arrival
in Marw, ‘Amr sent a message to Waki', saying, “Meet me.” But
he refused, and ‘Amr sent to him, saying, “You stupid, foolish,
crude Bedouin, come out to meet your commander.” The leading
men from the army of Marw went out to meet Makhlad, but
Waki* held back from going out until ‘Amr al-Azdi forced him to
go out. When they reached Makhlad, all of the soldiers dis-
mounted, except for Waki’, Muhammad b. Humrin al-Sa‘di, and
‘Abbad b. Laqit, one of the Banu Qays b. Tha‘labah. Eventually,
however, they were forced to dismount. When Makhlad reached
Marw he put Waki' in prison and tortured him, and he seized his
followers and tortured them. This took place prior to the arrival
of his father.

According to ‘Ali—Kulayb b. Khalaf—Idris b. Hanzalah: When
Makhlad reached Khurisan, he put me in prison, whereupon Ibn
al-Ahtam came to me, saying, “Do you want to save yourself?” |
said, “Yes.” He said, “Take out the letters that al-Qa‘qa‘ b.
Khulayd al-*Absi and Khuraym b. ‘Amr al-Murri wrote to Qutay-
bah about throwing off allegiance to Sulayman.” I asked him, O
Ibn al-Ahtam, are you tricking me out of my religion?”” Then Ibn
al-Ahtam called for some papyrus and said, “You are a fool.” He
wrote letters to Qutaybah in the name of al-Qa‘qa‘ and certain
men from the Qays, saying, “Al-Walid b. “Abd al-Malik has just
died, and Sulaymin will send this Mazini!3¢ to Khurasan. So
renounce your allegiance to Sulayman.” I said, ““O Ibn al-Ahtam,
by God, you are destroying yourself. By God, if 1 enter into his
presence, I will surely tell him that the letters were written by
you.”

In this year, Yazid b. al-Muhallab went to Khurasan as its
govemor.

According to ‘Ali b. Muhammad-—Abu al-Sari al-Azdi—his pa-
ternal uncle: After Qutaybah was slain, Waki‘ served as governor
of Khurasan for nine or ten months. Yazid b. al-Muhallab arrived

136. Mazini refers to an ‘Umaini or southetn Arab; Mazin is one of the names of
‘Uman. See Yaqut, Mu'jam, V, 122. The allusion is to Yazid b. al-Muhallab.
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in the year 97/715—16. According to °‘Ali—al-Mufaddal b.
Muhammad—his father: Yazid drew near to himself the army of
Syria'37 and a group from the army of Khurasan. (With respect to
this,) Nahar b. Tawsi‘ah recited:

We never expected from any governor
what we expected from Yazid.
But we were wrong about him and it has been our custom
to abstain from dealing with the unworthy.
If a governor did not give us justice,
we set out toward him like lions.
So gently, O Yazid, come back to us,
and let aside the company of slaves.
We come, but you turn away from us,
although we send greetings from afar.
And we return disappointed, without any gifts.
What is the reason for the sour face and aversion?

According to ‘Ali—Ziyad b. al-Rabi*—Ghalib al-Qattan: I saw
‘Umar b. ‘Abd al-*Aziz standing at ‘Arafat!38 during the Caliphate
of Sulayman—Sulaymin had performed the pilgrimage that
year—saying to ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. ‘Abdallah b. Khalid b. Asid, ‘‘How
strange that the Commander of the Faithful appointed (such) a
man as governor of the Muslims’ best frontier post! I have learned
from one of the merchants coming from that direction that that
governor gives one of his slave girls a stipend equal to that of a
thousand soldiers. By God, the Caliph’s appointment of him as
governor was not done for the sake of God!”” Knowing that ‘Umar
was referring to Yazid and the Juhani woman,!3® I said to him,
““He is rewarding them for their tribulations during the war
against the Azanqah 1140

137. The Syrian government troops had been kept away from Khurasan by al-
Haijiaj, who employed them exclusively in India. See Wellhausen, Arab Kingdom,
446.

138. “Arafit is a plain about twenty-one km. east of Mecca; it is the site of the
central ceremonies of the annual Pilgrimage. See EI2, s.v. "Arafa.

139. The Juhani woman was Yazid b. al- Muhallab’s concubine.

140. The Azariqah were a Kharijite sect named after their leader, Nafi' b. al-
Azraq, who maintained that all adversaries should be put to death with their
wives and children. The Azariqah were defeated by Yazid’s father, al-Muhallab b.
Abi Sufrah, in 78/692, after several years of fighting. See EI2, s.v. Azirika; Dixon,
The Umayyad Caliphate, 181.
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Our source continued: Yazid bestowed a gift upon ‘Abd al-
Malik b. Sallam al-Salali, whereupon the latter recited:

Your copious rain, O Yazid, kept falling on my need!4!
until my thirst was quenched, and your generosity cannot
be denied.

You are the spring by means of which, when starvation
prevails,
the sick and the destitute live.

The cloud of spring has spread over all your lands,
so they drank their fill; and rain-bearing clouds yielded
copious rain.

May God send you, wherever you are, a cloud full
of rain, every evening and every morning.142

In this year, Sulayman b. “Abd al-Malik led the pilgrimage. I was
told that by Ahmad b. Thabit—his source-—Ishaq b. ‘Isa—Abu
Ma‘shar.

In this year, Sulayman dismissed Talhah b. Dawud al-Hadrami
as governor of Mecca.143

According to al-Waqidi—Ibrahim b. Nafi‘—Ibn Abi Mulaykah:
When Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik returned from the pilgrimage,
he dismissed Talhah b. Dawud al-Hadrami as governor of Mecca
after the latter had served in office for six months, and he appoint-
ed in his place “Abd al-‘Aziz b. “Abdallah b. Khalid b. Asid b. Abi
al-Is b. Umayyah b. “Abd Shams b. ‘Abd Manaf.

The governors of the garrison towns in this year were the same
as they had been in the previous year, with the exception of
Khurasan, where Yazid b. al-Muhallab was responsible for mili-
tary, fiscal, and religious affairs. His representative in al-Kufah—
according to some—was Harmalah b. ‘Umayr al-Lakhmi, who
served for a few months, after which he was dismissed; he was
replaced by Bashir b. Hassin al-Nahdi.

141. Text: hawbah, which means the same as hajah.
142. See Kafi, Futiih, VI, 285.
143. But see text above, 11/1305, sub anno 96.
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Maslamah b. ‘Abd al-Malik Besieges Constantinople

Among the events which took place that year: Sulayman b. ‘Abd
al-Malik sent his brother, Maslamah b. ‘Abd al-Malik, to Con-
stantinople, and ordered him to stay there until he either con-
quered the city or received Sulayman’s order to return. So he
spent the winter and the summer there.144

According to Muhammad b. ‘Umar—Thawr b. Yazid—Sulay-
man b. Musa: When Maslamah approached Constantinople, he
ordered every horseman to load two mudds!45 of food on the back
of his horse so that he might bring it to Constantinople. Upon his
command, the food was heaped as high as certain mountains.
Then Maslamah said to the Muslims, “Do not eat any of this
food; rather, attack their lands and sow for yourselves.” He built
houses made of wood and passed the winter in them. The soldiers

144. See Ya'qubi, Ta'rikh, 111, 44; Kafi, Futah, VII, 298-306; FHA, 25ff.; Ibn
Kathir, Biddyah, IX, 174—75; Maqdisi, Bad’, VI, 43-44.

145. Text: muddayn. The Cairo ed. has mudyayn. A mudd is a dry measure for
grain, used in Syria and Egypt. See Tabari, Glossary, CDLXXXH,; RHinz, Islamische
Masse, 45—47.

[1315]



[1316]

40 The Caliphate of Sulaymin b. ‘Abd al-Malik

cultivated the land, while the aforementioned food remained in
the desert, totally exposed; the soldiers ate what they obtained
from raiding and, later, from what they had sown. Maslamah
remained, besieging Constantinople and oppressing its inhabi-
tants; he was accompanied by the most illustrious commanders
of the Syrian army: Khalid b. Ma‘dan, ‘Abdallah b. Abi Zakariyya’
al-Khuzai, and Mujahid b. Jabr. He remained there until he
learned of Sulayman’s death. A poet recited:

It carries her two mudds and the two mudds of Mas-
lamah.

According to Ahmad b. Zuhayr—°Ali b. Muhammad: When Su-
layman became Caliph he raided the Byzantines, setting up camp
in Dabiq'46 and sending Maslamah ahead. The Byzantines feared
him. Leo'4” came up from Armenial4® and said to Maslamah,
“Send someone to negotiate with me.” Maslamah sent Ibn
Hubayrah, who asked Leo, “What do you consider to be the
height of stupidity?”” He replied, “The man who fills his stomach
with everything that he finds.””!4° Ibn Hubayrah said to him, “We
are men of religion, and our religion calls for obedience to our
leaders.” Leo said, ““You are right. In the past, we used to fight one
another and get angry for the sake of religion. Today, however, we
fight for the sake of conquest and sovereignty. {But, if you with-
draw) we will give you one dinar for the head of every {soldier who
leaves).” Ibn Hubayrah returned to the Byzantines the next day
and said, “Maslamah does not accept your terms. I approached
him after he had eaten the morning meal, filled his stomach, and
taken a nap. When he woke up, he was groggy!5? and did not
understand what [ said.”

The Byzantine commanders said to Leo, “If you rid us of Mas-
lamah, we will make you emperor.” And they bound themselves
to him by the oath. Then Leo came to Maslamah and said, “The

146. A village in the ‘Aziz district north of Aleppo, situated on the edge of a
plain where the Umayyad armies prepared for their annual summer raids into
Byzantine Anatolia. See EI2, s.v. Dabik.

147. Leo 111, the Isaurian.

148. See EI?, s.v. Arminiya.

149. This saying is an allusion to Sulaymin, who reportedly consumed one
hundred ratl of food daily. See Mas“idi, Muriij {Beirut), 1ll, 175; FHA, 34; Ibn
Kathir, Bidayah, 1X, 180.

150. Literally, this means, “The phlegm had overcome him.”
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people (of Constantinople) know that you will not advance
against them in a bold attack and that you intend to prolong the
siege as long as you have food. But if you were to burn the food,
they would submit.” So Maslamah burned it. Then the enemy
became strong, while the Muslims entered into dire straits until
they were on the point of death. This was their situation until
Sulaymain died.

When Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik set up camp in Dibiq, he
swore to God that he would not leave until the army that he had
sent against the Byzantines entered Constantinople.

When the Byzantine emperor died, Leo came to (Sulaymain),
gave him the news, and assured him that he would deliver the
land of the Byzantines (to the Caliph). So the latter sent Mas-
lamah with Leo, and Maslamah set up camp there, collected all
the food around Constantinople, and laid siege to the city. But
Leo went to the inhabitants of the city, who made him emperor.
He then wrote to Maslamah informing him of what had taken
place and asking him to allow enough food to enter the city to
feed the people; in this way, the people would believe that his
word and Maslamah’s word were one and that they were safe
from being captured and expelled from their lands; he also asked
Maslamah to give them permission to gather food one night.
Meanwhile, Leo had prepared ships and men. Maslamah agreed to
his request, and the inhabitants of the city carried away large
quantities of food from those enclosures in a single night. At this
point, Leo began to act in a hostile manner, having deceived Mas-
lamah by means of a trick that would shame even a woman. The
Muslim army suffered what no army had suffered previously, to
the extent that a soldier was afraid to leave camp by himself.
They ate animals, skins, tree roots, leaves—indeed, everything
except dirt. Meanwhile, Sulaymin, who was residing in Dabigq,
was unable to send reinforcements due to the arrival of winter.
This was the situation until Sulaymian died.!5!

In this year, Sulaymin b. ‘Abd al-Malik had the oath of alle-
giance taken to his son, Ayyib b. Sulayman, making him his heir
apparent.152

According to ‘Umar b. Shabbah—'Ali b. Muhammad: ‘Abd al-

151. For the Byzantine perspective, see The Chronicle of Theophanes, 82-go.

152. See Ya‘'qubi, Ta’'rikh, 111, 43; Ibn Kathir, Biddyah, IX, 175.
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Malik had charged al-Walid and Sulaymin to take the oath of
allegiance on behalf of Ibn ‘Atikah,'53 and to Marwan b. ‘Abd al-
Malik after him.

According to Tariq b. al-Mubarak: Marwan b. “‘Abd al-Malik
died during the Caliphate of Sulayman, on his way out of Mecca,
whereupon Sulaymin took the oath of allegiance on behalf of
Ayyub. He withheld {the nomination} from Yazid, waiting for
something bad to happen to him and hoping that he would die.
But {it was) Ayyib {who) died while he was heir apparent.

In this year, the city of the Slavs!54 was conquered.

According to Muhammad b. ‘Umar: In the year 98/716-717,
Burjan!55 attacked Maslamah b. ‘Abd al-Malik when he was short
of men. Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik dispatched either Mas‘adah or
‘Amr b. Qays with reinforcements, but the Slavs tricked them.
Then God put them to flight after they had slain Sharahil (b. ‘Abd)
b. ‘Abdah.156

According to what has been claimed by al-Wagqidi, in this year
al-Walid b. Hisham and ‘Amr b. Qays carried out a raid in which
some soldiers from the army of Antioch were killed. Al-Walid
killed people living on the outskirts of Byzantium, taking many
of them captive.

[The Conguest of Jurjan and Tabaristan]!'57

In this year, Yazid b. al-Muhallab raided Jurjan!58 and Tabari-
stin, 159

153. Ibn ‘Atikah is Yazid b. ‘Abd al-Malik, whose mother was ‘Atikah bt. Yazid
b. Mu'awiyah b. Abi Sufyan.

154. The city of the Slavs was a city immediately beyond the Byzantine border.
See EP?, s.v. Slavs.

155. Burjin is the name of the most important Bulghir state and its inhabitants.
See EI2, s.v. Buighar.

156. Sharahil is Aba ‘Amir al-Sha‘bi. The words within parentheses (b. ‘Abd) are
added by the Cairo ed.

157. The text lacks the rubric, which is supplied by the Cairo ed. See Ibn
Khayyat, Ta'rikh, 1, 319—~20; Balidhuri, Futish (Cairo), 11, 412—17; Ya'qubi, Ta'rikh,
M, 41; Kofi, Futah, VII, 286-98; Maqdisi, Bad’, VI, 42-43; FHA, 21~24; Ibn
Kathir, Bidayah, 1X, 175~76; Wellhausen, Arab Kingdom, 446—48.

158. Jurjan is a province situated at the southeastern corner of the Caspian Sea.
See EI2, s.v. Gurgin; Le Strange, Lands, 376-81.

159. Tabaristan is a Persian province north of Mount Alburz, called “the land of
Tabar" because of the thick forests that cover the country. See El, s.v, Tabaristan;
Le Strange, Lands, 368-76.
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According to Hishim b. Muhammad—Abua Mikhnaf: Yazid b.
al-Mubhallab reached Khurasan, where he remained for three or
four months; then he advanced toward Dihistan!s? and Jurjan,
sending his son, Makhlad, to serve (as deputy governor) over
Khurasin. When he reached Dihistan, which was inhabited by a
tribe of Turks, he established himself there and besieged its in-
habitants. With him were the armies of al-Kiifah, al-Basrah, and
Syria, together with the leading men from the armies of Khurasan
and al-Rayy.!6! He had one hundred thousand soldiers, not in-
cluding clients, slave soldiers, and irregular volunteers.162 The
Muslims attacked the enemy, quickly putting them to flight and
causing them to return to their fortress. Later, they would emerge
from time to time and fight with intensity.

Jahm and Jamal, the two sons of Zahr, had a favored position
with Yazid, who honored them. Muhammad b. ‘Abd al-Rahmain b.
Abi Sabrah al-Ju‘fi was an eloquent and courageous man, except
for the fact that he used to corrupt himself with drink. However,
it was not his custom to visit Yazid and his household frequently.
Perhaps the good influence they had on the two sons of Zahr,
Jahm and Jamal, kept him away. Now, when the herald would cry
out, “O ye horsemen of God, mount up and rejoice at the good
news,” Muhammad b. ‘Abd al-Rahman b. Abi Sabrah would be
the first horseman from among the troops to hasten to the brunt
of battle. One day, the call went out to the soldiers, and Ibn Abi
Sabrah preceded all the others. He was standing on a mound when
‘Uthman b. al-Mufaddal passed by him and said, “O Ibn Abi
Sabrah, I have never been able to beat you to the muster.” He
replied, “What good is that to me, when you prefer the boys of the
Madhhij and ignore the worth of the elderly men of experience
and prowess?”” He said, “Had you wanted what we have, we
would not have withheld from you what you deserve.”

Our source continued: The troops went out and fought with

160. A rich agricultural region located to the north of the lower Atrek. Its
capital, Akhtr, was a four-day joummey to the north of Jurjan, on the road to
Khwirazm. See EI?, s.v. Dihistan; Le Strange, Lands, 379-80.

161. The capital of al-Jibil; its ruins can be seen five miles south-southeast of
modern Tehran. See Yaqut, Mu'jam, I, 116-212; El, s.v. Raiy; Le Strange, Lands,
214~17.

162. Text: wa-I-mutatawwi‘in. On these unpaid and/or irregular volunteers, see
Crone, Slaves, 53.
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intensity. Muhammad b. Abi Sabrah attacked a Turk, whom the
other soldiers had avoided. They exchanged blows, and the Turk’s
sword became fixed in Ibn Abi Sabrah’s helmet. But Ibn Abi
Sabrah struck him dead. Then he advanced, bloody sword in
hand, with the Turk’s sword stuck in his helmet, and the soldiers
witnessed the finest spectacle that they had ever seen on the part
of a horseman. When Yazid saw the glitter of the two swords, the
helmet, and the armor, he asked, “Who is that?”” They answered,
“Ibn Abi Sabrah.” He said, “How excellent a father who gave
birth to such a son!!'$3 What a man he would be, were it not for
the fact that he drinks to excess!”

Subsequently, Yazid went out one day, seeking a place from
which he might attack the enemy. Suddenly, a band of Turks
attacked him from out of nowhere. With him at the time were the
leading soldiers and their horsemen. He had approximately four
hundred men, while the enemy had approximately four thousand.
After fighting the Turks for a while, Yazid’s men said to him, “O
Commander, leave and we will fight for you.” But he refused.
Yazid himself engaged in the fighting on that day, like one of his
soldiers. Ibn Abi Sabrah, the two sons of Zahr, al-Hajjaj b. Jariyah
al-Khath'ami, and his most distinguished followers fought val-
iantly. Finally, when they wanted to leave, Yazid put al-Hajjaj b.
Jariyah in charge of the rear guard; he fought those who were
behind him until the others reached water, for they were thirsty.
They drank, and the enemy moved away without gaining any-
thing from them.

Sufyan b. Safwan al-Khath‘ami recited:

Were it not for Ibn Jariyah, the white-faced one,
you would have been given a bitter cup to drink.
He protected you with his horsemen and his horses
until you reached water, unafflicted.

Then Yazid persisted in the siege, stationing the troops on
every side of the city,164 thereby cutting off its supplies. When
the Turks tired and were unable to fight the Muslims, for the

163. Text: lillahi abihu, which means, to God alone belongs the power to
create the likes of this man from whom has proceeded this wonderful action. See
Lane, Lexicon, pt. 1, p. 11.

164. Probably the city of Dihistan.
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siege and trial weighed heavily on them, $ul, the dihgan'¢s of
Dihistan, sent to Yazid, saying, “I will make peace with you on
the condition that you provide safe-conduct for me, for the mem-
bers of my household, and for my animals, in which case, 1 will
deliver the city to you, together with its contents and its inhabi-
tants.” Yazid made peace with Sil, who submitted to him; he
carried out the agreement. He entered the city and seized the
animals, treasures, and numberless captives, and put to the sword
fourteen thousand defenseless Turks. He wrote about this to Su-
layman b. 'Abd al-Malik.

Then he set out, making his way to Jurjan. Now, it had been
customary for the Jurjanis to pay the army of al-Kifah one hun-
dred thousand, two hundred thousand, and sometimes even three
hundred thousand (dirhams) in return for peace. These were the
terms upon which they would make peace with them. When
Yazid came to them, they presented themselves to him with the
peace treaty, for they regarded him with awe, and they offered
him more than they were accustomed to paying. He appointed a
man from the Azd by the name of Asad b. ‘Abdallah as their
governor.

Yazid then entered the territory of the ispahbadh in Tabaristin,
accompanied by laborers who cut down trees and smoothed the
roads. Finally, they reached him, and Yazid set up camp, besieg-
ing the ispahbadh and occupying his land. The ispahbadh sued
Yazid for peace, offering him more than it was his custom to pay.
But Yazid refused, hoping to conquer the land by force. One day,
he sent out his brother, Abi: ‘Uyaynah, leading the armies of al-
Kufah and al-Basrah; he climbed into the mountains making his
way toward the ispahbadh. Meanwhile, the ispahbadh had sent
to Daylam, summoning additional military forces. The two ar-
mies met in battle, and the Muslims prevailed over them for a
while, putting them to flight. When the chief of al-Daylam!66
came forward, challenging the Muslims, Ibn Abi Sabrah went out
to engage him in combat and he slew him. The rout continued

165. The dihqdn was the village head and a member of the lesser feudal nobility
of Sassanian Persia who, after the Arab conquest, continued to be responsible for
local administration and the collection of tribute. In Transoxiana, the local rulers
were designated by the term dihqan. See EI?, s.v. Dihkin.

166. The chief of Daylam is identified by Kufi (Futih, VI, 290) as Sulayman al-
Daylami.
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until the Muslims reached the opening of the mountain pass. As
they began their ascent, the enemy soldiers, who were looking
down on them, opened fire on them with arrows and stones. The
soldiers fled from the opening of the mountain pass without suf-
fering great losses, for the enemy did not have the strength to
pursue them and search for them. But the Muslims began to press
on one another, to the point that they began to fall over one
another into the ravines, and the men rolled from the top of the
mountain until they reached Yazid’s army, oblivious to their
misfortune. 167

Yazid held his ground, unperturbed. Meanwhile, the ispahbadh
wrote to the army of Jurjan, asking them to attack Yazid's fol-
lowers and to cut off his supplies and the roads between him and
the Arabs, and promising to compensate them for their efforts.
Accordingly, they fell upon the Muslims that Yazid had left be-
hind, slaying those that they could. The survivors assembled and
fortified themselves in a secluded spot, where they remained un-
til Yazid rescued them. Yazid continued to press against the is-
pahbadh in his land until he made peace with him in return for
seven hundred thousand dirhams, four hundred thousand in
cash,!68 two hundred thousand (garments},16? four hundred don-
keys loaded with saffron, and four hundred slaves; on the head of
each slave, he requested a cloak, and on the cloak a scarf, a silver
cup, and a piece of fine white silk!70—previously they had sued
for peace in exchange for two hundred thousand dirhams. Then
Yazid and his followers left, looking as if they had been defeated!
Had it not been for the actions of the Jurjanis, he would not have
left Tabaristan until he had conquered it by force.

As for sources other than Abu Mikhnaf on the subject of the
encounter between Yazid and the Jurjinis: According to Ahmad
b. Zuhayr—'Ali b. Muhammad-—Kulayb b. Khalaf and others:
Sa‘id b. al-‘Ag!7! made peace with the people of Jurjan.!72 Subse-

167. Text: sharr, which may also mean ‘““danger.”

168. Text: nagdan. 1bn Kathir, Bidayah, 1X, 176, has dindrs.

169. The text states “two hundred thousand.” Ibn Kathir, Bidayah, X, 176,
adds the word thawb, “garments.”

170. See Baladhuri, Futih (Cairo), I, 414. B

171. Sa'id b. al-"As died in 59/768-9. See EI, s.v. Sa'id b. al-'As.

172. For further details on the initial conquest of Jurjan, sec Baladhuri, Futizh
{Cairo}, I, 411.
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quently, however, they refused to pay and violated their treaty.173
No Muslim went to Jurjan after Sa‘id, for they blocked that road.
Indeed, no aone could travel the Khurasan road from that direction
except in fear and dread of the Jurjanis. This was the road to
Khurasan from Fars!74 to Kirman. The first person to traverse the
road from Qumis!7S was Qutaybah b. Muslim, when he became
governor of Khurasan. Then Masqalah raided Khuriasin, in the
days of Mu‘awiyah, leading ten thousand soldiers. But he was
slain when his army was in Rityan,!”6 which is adjacent to Ta-
baristin. They died in one of the wadis of that region when the
enemy attacked them in the mountain passes, killing all of them.
Therefore, it is called “Masqalah’s Wadi.” Our source said: He is
the one referred to in the proverb, “Until Masqalah returns from
Tabaristan.””177

According to ‘Ali—Kulayb b. Khalaf al--Ammi—Tufayl b. Mir-
das al--‘Ammi and Idris b. Hanzalah: Sa‘id b. al-"As concluded a
peace treaty with the people of Jurjan. Sometimes they would
bring one hundred thousand {dirhams) and say, ‘“This is our set-
tlement.” And sometimes two hundred thousand, and sometimes
three hundred thousand. Sometimes they would pay one of these
amounts; at other times they would refuse to pay. Then they
refused to pay and violated the treaty.!78 They failed to pay the
tribute until Yazid b. al-Muhallab came to them, for no one op-
posed him when he reached Jurjan. When he made peace with Sal
and conquered al-Buhayrah and Dihistan, he concluded a peace
treaty with the people of Jurjan on the same terms they had re-
ceived from Sa‘id b. al-‘As.

According to Ahmad—'Ali—Kulayb b. Khalaf al-‘Ammi—Tu-

173. The text specifies wa-kafarii, which literally means “and they turned away
from Islam.” But since the Jurjanis had not become Muslims upon payment of the
poll tax, the word kafari here should be taken in the sense of naqadii-1-'ahd,
“they violated the treaty.” | owe this point to Professor Abbas.

174. A Persian province bounded on the northwest by Khuzistin, on the north-
east by Isfahan, on the east by Kirman, and on the west and southwest by the
Persian Gulf. See EP2, s.v. Fars; Le Strange, Lands, 148—98.

175. A small province lying to the south of the Alburz chain watershed between
al-Rayy and Nishabar. See EI2, s.v. Kimis; Le Strange, Lands, 264-68.

176. Rayan was an independent district attached to Tabaristin. See El, s.v.
Riyan; Yaqut, Mu'jam, Ill, 104—5; Le Strange, Lands, 373-74.

177. See Baladhuri, Futiih {Cairo), I, 411~12.

178. See note 173 above.
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fayl b. Mirdas and Bishr b. ‘Isai—Abi Safwan!7°—Ali said (I was
told this also by Abii Hafs al-Azdi—Sulayman b. Kathir, and oth-
ers): Sil the Turk used to camp at Dihistan and at al-Buhayrah, an
island in the {Caspian) sea five farsakhs (30 km.) from Dihistan,
both of which were part of Jurjan, on the side of Khwarazm. Sul
used to carry out raids against Fayruz b. Qul, the Marzuban of
Jurizn—they were twenty-five farsakhs (150 km.} apart—during
which he would kill their noble men and then retum to al-
Buhayrah and Dihistin. Now, a dispute broke out between Fayruz
and one of his paternal cousins, who was called, ‘the Marzuban,”
as a result of which the Marzuban separated himself from Fayriz
and settled in al-Bayasan.!80 Fearing that the Turks would carry
out raids against him, Fayriz set out for Yazid b. al-Muhallab in
Khurasin. Meanwhile, Sil seized Jurjan. When Fayraz reached
Yazid b. al-Muhallab, the latter asked him, “Why have you come
here?” Fayraz replied, I was afraid of Sul, so I fled.” Yazid asked
him, “Is there any stratagem we might use to fight him?”’ Fayruz
answered, “Yes, there is one thing which, if you attain it, either
you will kill him or he will submit.” Yazid asked, “What is it?”
Fayriiz counseled, “If he leaves Jurjan in order to establish camp
in al-Buhayrah, and then you come to him there and lay siege to
the island, you will be victorious over him. Therefore, write a
letter to the ispahbadh in which you ask him to trick Sul by
having him remain in Jurjan. Pay him something for this and
promise him more. He will then send your letter to Sil, seeking
to ingratiate himself with him, because he regards him with great
honor. As a result, Sul will leave Jurjan and set up camp in al-
Buhayrah.”

Yazid b. al-Muhallab therefore wrote to the leader of Tabari-
stan: “] intend to carry out a raid against $al while he is in Jurjan,
but 1 fear that if he learns of my intention he will leave for al-
Buhayrah and set up camp there. If he does go there, I will not be
able to attack him. Now, he listens to you and considers you to be
a faithful adviser. If you were to confine him in Jurjan this year, so
that he would not go to al-Buhayrah, 1 will convey to you fifty

179. Text: Safwan. The Cairo ed. specifies Aba Safwin.
180. A village in Marw al-Shahijan. See Yaqut, Mu'jam, |, 528.
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thousand mithqals.!8! So devise some stratagem to keep him in
Jurian, for, if he stays there, he will be mine.” When the
ispahbadh saw the letter, he sought to ingratiate himself with Sul
by sending the letter to him. When the letter arrived, Sil ordered
the troops to depart for al-Buhayrah; he loaded foodstuffs so that
he would be secure there.

Yazid learned that $ul had traveled from Jurjan to al-Buhayrah;
he determined to leave for Jurjan. He set out, leading thirty thou-
sand men, accompanied by Fayraiz b. Qal. He appointed Makhlad
b. Yazid as his deputy in Khurasan, designated his son, Mu'awiyah
b. Yazid, as his deputy in Samarqand, Kiss,!82 Nasaf,183 and
Bukharia, and appointed Hitim b. Qabisah b. al-Muhallab as his
deputy in Tukharistin.!8¢ He marched to Jurjin which, at that
time, was not a city, but rather a locality surrounded by moun-
tains, with gates and rugged roads!85—when a man stood at one of
the gates, no one could advance against him. Yazid entered Jurjan
without encountering any resistance and he captured great wealth.
The Marzuban fled, and Yazid set out, with his soldiers, for al-
Buhayrah, where he laid siege to Sal.

When he attacked them, he recited:

The sword flashed and his hands trembled;
By him, himself, souls were saved.

Our source continued: He besieged them. Siil would come out
toward him during the day and fight, and then return to his for-
tress. With Yazid were the armies of al-Kufah and al-Basrah.

Then he mentioned the story of Jahm b. Zahr and his brother,
and Muhammad (b. Abi Sabrah}, more or less as was reported by

181. A unit of weight for gold, taken over by 'Abd al-Malik from the Roman
solidus of the Constantinian system, equivalent to 65.6 grains or 4.25 grams.
"Mithqal” is used as a synonym for “dinar.” See EI, s.v. Mithkal.

182. A town near Samarqand. See Yaqut, Mu‘jam, IV, 460.

183. A town in the district of Bukhara. See E/, s.v. Nakhshab; Yaqat, Mu‘jam, V,
28s.

184. Tukhiristin was the region situated between Balkh and Badakhshin. See
ER2, s.v. Badakhshan.

185. See Baladhuri Futih {Cairo), II, 413: “Surrounded by a wall of baked bricks
that reached to the sea.” See also Kufi, Futih, VII, 286; FHA, 21; Ibn al-Athir,
Kamil, V, 29.
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Hisham, except that he said, regarding the Turk’s striking of Ibn
Abi Sabrah: “The Turk’s sword became caught in Ibn Abi Sab-
rah’s shield.”186

According to ‘Ali b. Muhammad—Ali b. Mujahid—‘Anbasah:
Muhammad b. Abi Sabrah fought the Turks in Jurjan. They sur-
rounded him, taking turns against him with their swords. Three
swords broke in his hand.

Then, returning to our original chain of transmission, our
source said: They, that is, the Turks, were under siege for six
months, during which time they would emerge, fight, and then
return to their fortress.!87 Finally, they were reduced to drinking
ground water, whereupon they were afflicted with a disease
known as al-su’ad'88 and began to die. At this point Sul sued for
peace, but Yazid b. al-Muhallab said, “No, not unless he submits
to my rule.” $al refused and sent a message to Yazid, saying: “I
will make peace with you on behalf of myself, my belongings, and
three hundred members of my household and companions, on the
condition that you provide safe passage for me. If you accept these
terms, you may occupy al-Buhayrah.” Yazid agreed to these
terms, and Sl emerged with his belongings and three hundred of
his favorites and joined Yazid. Then Yazid put to the sword four-
teen thousand defenseless Turks, letting the others go without
killing any of them. The soldiers said to Yazid, “Give us our
stipends,” so he summoned Idris b. Hanzalah al-‘Ammi, saying,
O Ibn Hanzalah, give us an account of al-Buhayrah’s wealth so
that we may pay the troops.” Idris entered al-Buhayrah, but he
was unable to estimate the value of its wealth. He said to Yazid,
“I am unable to assess its wealth because it is stored in recepta-
cles. We will have to count the sacks, make a sign indicating the
contents of each sack, and say to the soldiers, ‘Enter and take.’ In
this way, when someone takes something, we will announce
what he took, that is, wheat, barley, rice, sesame, and honey.” At
that, Yazid said, “That is a good idea.” They determined the

186. See text above, II/1319, where it is stated that the sword became stuck in
Ibn Abi Sabrah’s helmet.

187. Wellhausen argues that the siege could not have lasted six months. See
Arab Kingdom, 447, n. 1.

188. A disease that attacks the liver as a result of drinking brackish water. See
Lane, Lexicon, pt. 4, p. 1462.
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number of sacks, put a sign on each sack indicating its contents,
and said to the soldiers, “Take.”” As each man left al-Buhayrah,
having taken clothing, food, or whatever could be carried away,
the number of sacks he had taken would be recorded in his name.
They took considerable amounts.

According to “‘Ali—Aba Bakr al-Hudhali: Shahr b. Hawshab, !8°
who was in charge of Yazid b. al-Muhallab’s coffers, was accused
of stealing a leather purse.!9? Yazid asked him about it, and Shahr
brought it to him. Then Yazid summoned the person who had
made the accusation, rebuked him, and said to Shahr, “It’s
yours.” Shahr said, "I have no need for it.”

The following was recited by al-Qutami al-Kalbi!®!—some say
by Sinan b. Mukammal al-Numayri:

Shahr sold his religion for a purse of leather.
Now who will trust the Qur’an reciters!2 after you, O
Shahr?

You received for it something insignificant and sold it
to Ibn Junabudh. Verily, this is perfidy.

Murrah al-Nakha'i recited, with regard to Shahr:

O Ibn al-Muhallab, what did you have in mind for a man
who, 193
were it not for you, would have been an upright reciter {of
the Qur’'an)?

According to ‘Ali-—Abu Muhammad al-Thaqafi: Yazid b. al-
Mubhallab acquired a crown in Jurjan in which there was a pre-
cious stone and he asked, “Do you know anyone who would not
desire this crown?”’ They replied, “No.” Yazid then summoned
Muhammad b. Wasi® al-Azdi and said, “Take this crown—it’s
yours.” He said, ““I have no need for it.”” Yazid said, “I insist.” So
Muhammad took it and left. Then Yazid ordered someone to

189. Abii Sa'id Shahr b. Hawshab al-Ash’ari (d. 111 or 112/730 or 731), a Syrian
transmitter of hadith. See 1bn Hajar al-'Asqalini, Tahdhib, IV, 369—72.

190. Ibn Kathir, Biddayah, IX, 176, adds: “With one hundred dinirs in it.”

191. Al-Husayn b. Jammal b. Habib al-Qutami al-Kalbj, d. to1/720. See Sezgin,
GAS, 1, 339; and ER?, s.v. al-Kutami.

192. Text: al-qurrd’, which could also mean “officials.” See note 408 below.

193. Text: ma aradta ild-mri’in.
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observe what he would do with the crown. Muhammad met a
beggar and gave it to him. Yazid’s agent took the beggar, brought
him to Yazid, and told him what had happened. Yazid took the
crown and gave the beggar a large sum of money in return.

According to ‘Ali: Every time that Qutaybah made a new con-
quest, Sulayman b. ‘Abd al-Malik would say to Yazid b. al-
Muhallab, “Don’t you see what God is accomplishing through
Qutaybah?” Yazid would reply, “What about Jurjan, which sepa-
rated the soldiers from the ‘Main Road,’'®* and thus disrupted
things in Qimis and Abrashahr?/195 Yazid would also say, “These
conquests are nothing. Jurjan is what counts.” Thus, when Yazid
b. al-Muhallab became governor, his sole ambition was to conquer
Jurjan. It is said: Yazid b. al-Muhallab had one hundred and twenty
thousand fighting men, including sixty thousand soldiers from the
Syrian army.

According to ‘Ali—the one who mentioned the Jurjan report—
on their authority, supplemented by ‘Ali b. Mujahid—Khalid b.
Subayh: After Yazid b. al-Muhallab made peace with Sal, he had a
great desire to conquer Tabaristan. Having resolved to travel
there, he designated ‘Abdallah b. al-Mu‘ammar al-Yashkuri as his
governor in al-Bayasan and Dihistan, leaving him with four thou-
sand men. Then he advanced toward the nearest parts of Jurjan,
adjacent to Tabaristan. He designated Asad b. '"Amr—or b. “Abdal-
13h b. al-Rub‘ah—as his governor in Andarastin,'6 which is adja-
cent to Tabaristin, leaving him with four thousand men. Then
Yazid entered the lands of the ispahbadh, who sent to him, suing
for peace and asking him to leave Tabaristan. But Yazid refused,
for he hoped to conquer it by force. He then sent his brother, Aba
‘Uyaynah, in one direction, his son, Khalid b. Yazid, in another,
and Abu al-Jahm al-Kalbi in a third, saying, “When you join
forces, Aba ‘Uyaynah is to be in command of the troops.” Yazid
said to Abi ‘Uyaynah, as the latter set out leading the armies of

194. Text: al-tariq al-a'zam. Kufi, Futih, VII, 287, has “Khurisin” instead of
“the Main Road.”

195. Abrashahr, the ancient name of Nishapir, was the capital of one of the four
quarters of the province of Khurasan. See EI2, s.v. Abrashahr; also EI, s.v. Tas; Le
Strange, Lands, 383.

196. A village in Khwirazm, about one day’s march south of Jurianiyyah. See Le
Strange, Lands, 453.
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al-Kufah and al-Basrah, accompanied by Huraym b. Abi Tahmah,
“Take counsel with Huraym, for he is a faithful adviser.” Yazid
remained in the camp.

The ispahbadh sought support from the people of Jilan and al-
Daylam, and they came to him. The two opposing armies met
near the foot of a mountain.'®” The polytheists were put to rout,
and the Muslims pursued them until they reached the mouth of
the mountain pass. But when the Muslims entered the passage-
way, the polytheists climbed up into the mountains, pursued by
the Muslims. The enemy then shot at them with arrows and
stones, putting Abu ‘Uyaynah and the Muslims to flight. They
pressed on one another, falling over one another from the moun-
tain, not stopping until they reached Yazid’s troops. At this point,
the enemy gave up the chase.

The ispahbadh, fearing the Muslims, wrote to the Marzuban,
the paternal cousin of Fayruz b. Qiuil, who was at the farthest
reaches of Jurjan, adjacent to al-Bayasan, saying, “We have slain
Yazid [sic) and his followers,!98 so kill the Arabs in al-Bayasan.”
The Marzuban and his men joined the army of Bayasan, having
reached a consensus to kill the Muslims, who were {carelessly
asleep) in their dwellings. They were all slain during a single
night. ‘Abdallih b. al-Mu‘ammar was slain, together with four
thousand Muslims—not one of them escaped; fifty of the Banu-
l--“Amm were slain, among them al-Husayn b. ‘Abd al-Rahman
and Isma‘il b. Ibrahim b. Shammas. The Marzuban wrote to the
ispahbadh that he should take control of the mountain passes
and the roads.

When Yazid learned that ‘Abdallah b. al-Mu‘ammar and his
followers had been slain, his men were distressed and frightened.
Yazid, therefore, sought the assistance of Hayyan al-Nabati, say-
ing, “Do not let the misunderstanding between us prevent you
from serving the Muslims.!?® We have heard the news from Jur-
jan, where that one (that is, the ispahbadh) has seized control of

197. Text: fi sanad jabal, "‘near the face of a mountain.” The translation fol-

lows Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, V, 31, who specifies fi safh jabal, 'near the foot of a
mountain.”

198. Text: Yazid wa-ashabahu. Baladhuri, Futih (Cairo), U, 413, has ashab
Yazid, “Yazid's followers,” which makes better sense.

199. The misunderstanding will be explained below.
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the roads, so make peace.” Hayyan agreed and approached the
ispahbadh, saying, “I am one of you, even if religion has sepa-
rated us.2% I will give you good advice, for you are dearer to me
than Yazid. He has summoned reinforcements, and his soldiers
are nearby. Since the Jurjanis eliminated only one segment of his
army, I am concerned that you will not be able to withstand him.
So relieve yourself from him and make peace with him, for, if you
make peace with him, he will turn his weapons against the Jur-
janis,2®! who deceived and killed many Muslims.” The ispah-
badh made peace with Yazid, agreeing to pay seven hundred
thousand dirhams.

According to ‘Ali b. Mujihid: The terms were five hundred
thousand dirhams,292 four hundred loads of saffron or their value
in ready money, and four hundred slaves—each slave wearing a
cloak and a scarf and carrying a silver vessel, a piece of silk cloth
and a suit of clothes.203

Then Hayyin returned to Yazid b. al-Muhallab, saying, “Send
some people to carry away the terms of the agreement that I have
concluded with them.” He asked, “Who is paying, we or they?”
He replied, “They are.” Yazid, who would have been happy to
give them whatever they asked for and return to Jurjan, sent some
people to carry away the terms of the agreement that Hayyan had
worked out with them, and he set out for Jurjan. Previously,
Yazid had penalized Hayyan two hundred thousand dirhams.
This was why he feared that Hayyan would not provide him with
good counsel.

The circumstances of his having penalized Hayyan in this man-
ner were related to me as follows by ‘Ali b. Mujahid—Khalid b.
Subayh: I was serving as a tutor to Hayyan’s son, when he sum-
moned me, saying, “Write a letter to Makhlad b. Yazid.” Makh-
lad, at that particular time, was in Balkh, while Yazid was in
Marw. I took up a scroll of papyrus, and he said, “Write: ‘From
Hayyan, the client of Masqalah, to Makhlad b. Yazid.’” But Mu-

200. It is reported that Hayyan was originally from al-Daylam. See text above,
/1291,

201. Text: sayyara haddahu “ald ahl Jurjan. Kufi, Futith, VI, 192, has yakiinu
harbuhu wa-satwatuhu ‘alayhim, “His war and attack will be against them.”

202. Ibn Khayyat, Ta'rikh, 1, 320, mentions seven hundred thousand dirthams.

203. See text above, I1/1321, for another version of the agreement.
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gatil b. Hayyan gestured to me, indicating, “Don’t write that.”
Then he approached his father and said, O my father! You write
to Makhlad and yet mention yourself first!” He said, ‘‘Yes, my
son, and if he does not like it he will suffer the same fate as
Qutaybah.” Then he said to me, “Write.” So I wrote. He had
Makhlad bring the letter to his father. This was why Yazid made
Hayyan pay two hundred thousand dirhams.

In this year, Yazid reconquered Jurjan after the Jurjanis had
treacherously waylaid his army and broken the agreement.20¢

According to ‘Ali—the group that transmitted to him the report
about Jurjan and Tabaristan: Then, when Yazid made peace with
the army of Tabaristin, he headed for Jurjan. He swore to God
that if he triumphed over them, he would neither loosen his hold
on them nor raise the sword from them until he mixed blood into
the wheat, made bread out of the mixture, and ate the bread.

When the Marzubin learned that Yazid had made peace with
the ispahbadh and was making his way toward Jurjan, he gath-
ered his supporters and went to al-Wajah,205 where he fortified
himself. Whoever controls al-Wajah needs no reserves of food or
water. Meanwhile, Yazid arrived and surrounded the place, while
the Marzubin and his men fortified themselves inside. Al-Wajah
was surrounded by dense thickets, so that only one way in and
out was known. Yazid maintained the siege for seven months206
without making any progress against them, for he did not know of
any way to approach them except from the one side. The Mar-
zuban and his men would emerge during the day, fight, and then
return to their fortress. Now, while matters were like this, it
happened that a man—one of the Persians from Khurasan who
was with Yazid—went out to hunt, accompanied by members of
his Shakiriyyah corps.207

According to Hisham b. Muhammad—Aba Mikhnaf: One of
his soldiers, from the tribe of Tayyi’, went out to hunt and spotted
an antelope climbing in the mountains. He followed it, saying to
his companions, “‘Stay where you are.” He climbed the mountain
following the tracks. Suddenly he came upon their army, where-

204. See Ibn Khayyat, Ta'rikh, 1, 320~21; Ya'qibi, Ta'rikh, 11, 41; FHA, 23.
205. Apparently, the name of a fortress in the mountainous region of Jurjan.
206. Kifi, Futih, VII, 293-~94, specifies “four months.”

207. On this term, see Wellhausen, Arab Kingdom, 496.
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upon he turned back seeking his companions. Afraid that he
would not be able to find his way back, he began to tear up his
garment and tie markers on the trees. Finally, he reached his
companions and then returned to the army camp. It is said: the
man who was hunting was al-Hayyaj b. ‘Abd al-Rahman al-Azdi, a
resident of Tus2%8 and an avid hunter. When he returned to the
army camp, he approached ‘Amir b. Aynam al-Washiji, who was
the commander of Yazid's guard. But they would not let him
enter, so he cried out, “I have important information.”

According to Hishaim—Abu Mikhnaf: Finally, he brought the
matter to the attention of the two sons of Zahr b. Qays, who took
him and brought him to Yazid. Al-Hayyaj gave him the report,
and Yazid gave him an assurance, confirmed by al-Juhaniyyah, a
slave girl of his who had borne him a child,2% to pay him an
agreed-upon sum.

According to ‘Ali b. Muhammad—his companions: Yazid called
for al-Hayyaj and asked, “What information do you have?” He
replied, ‘Do you want to enter Wajah without a fight?”” He said,
“Certainly.” He said, “What will you give me?”” He said, “Name
your price.” He said, “Four thousand.” He said, “You are entitled
to blood payment {diyah).’2!0 He said, “Give me four thousand
now and whatever you give me later will be a gratuity.” Where-
upon Yazid gave an order to pay him four thousand dirhams. Then
he called out to his soldiers, fourteen hundred of whom responded.
Al-Hayyaj said, “Due to the density of the thickets, the path will
not bear such a large group.” Yazid therefore chose three hundred
and sent them off under the command of Jahm b. Zahr.

Some sources said: He put his son, Khalid b. Yazid, in com-
mand of them, saying, ‘“You may be deprived of life, but you
cannot be deprived of death.2!! God help you if I see you in my
presence after having been put to flight.” He sent Jahm b. Zahr
along with him. Yazid asked the man who called out to the sol-

208. A district in Khurisan containing the towns of Nawgan and Tabaran. See
EI, s.v. Tus; Le Strange, Lands, 388-90.

209. See text above, 11/1313, sub anno 97.

210. A specified amount of money (either one thousand dinars or twelve thou-
sand dirhams), or goods, due in cases of homicide or other injuries unjustly com-
mitted upon the person of another. See EI2, s.v. Diya. ’

a11. Text: in ghulibta ‘ala-l-hayat fa-la tughlibanna "ala-l1-mawt, that is, “Do
not let fear of death dampen your courage.”
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diers, “When will you reach them?”” He replied, ““Tomorrow at
noon, in the interval between the two prayers.”212 He said, “Go,
with the blessing of God, and 1 will endeavor to engage them
tomorrow at the time of the noon prayer.” They set out. The next
day, shortly before the time of the afternoon prayer, Yazid ordered
his men to set fire to some wood that he had collected and put
into piles during the course of the siege. They set fire to the piles
of wood, and before the sun had declined from the meridian, his
army was surrounded by mountain-like flames of fire. When the
enemy saw the fire, they were frightened by the magnitude of
what they saw and they came out toward them. When the sun
had declined from the meridian, Yazid ordered his men to pray,
and they combined the two prayers. Then they marched off to-
ward them, and the two armies met in battle.

Meanwhile, the other contingent marched for the remainder of
that day and the morrow, and attacked the Turk’s army shortly
before the time of the afternoon prayer. The Jurjanis, engaged in
combat with Yazid on the one side, and, believing themselves to
be secure on the other, did not sense anything until the moment
when they heard the takbir2!3 behind them, whereupon they all
headed for their fortress, with the Muslims in hot pursuit. They
surrendered, submitting to Yazid’s rule. He captured their women
and children and slew their soldiers, crucifying them at a distance
of two farsakhs (12 km.) to the left and right of the road. He also
drove twelve thousand of them to al-Andarhaz,2'4 the Wadi of
Jurjan,2!5 and said, “Whoever seeks blood revenge from them
may slay whomever he wishes.” A single Muslim slew as many
as four or five men in the wadi, turning the wadi’s water into
blood. There was a millstone by the wadi, and Yazid was able to
mix blood into the ground wheat, thereby releasing himself from
his oath.216 He ground wheat, made bread, ate, and built the city
of Jurjan.

Some sources said: Yazid killed forty thousand of the people of

212. The noon and midday prayers.

213. The takbir is the formula “God is great.” See El, s.v. Takbir.

214. Ibn Khayyat, Ta'rikh, I, 321, has al-Andar rather than al-Andarhaz.

215. The Wadi of Jurjan is the modern Gurgin river. See EI2, s.v. Gurgan; Le
Strange, Lands, 376~77.

216. See text above, II/1330.
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Jurjan. There had been no city there previously. Then he returned
to Khurasan, leaving Jahm b. Zahr al-Ju‘'fi as his governor of
Jurjan.

According to Hisham b. Muhammad-Abu Mikhnaf: Yazid
summoned Jahm b. Zahr and sent four hundred men with him.
They began with the place to which they had been directed, hav-
ing been instructed by Yazid as follows: “When you reach the
city, wait until daybreak, then pronounce the takbir and proceed
toward the city gate. You will find me there, having already
rushed all of the men to the gate.” Accordingly, when Ibn Zahr
entered the city he waited until the hour at which Yazid had
ordered him to attack and then ordered his men to advance. They
slew every single one of the guards that they encountered and
pronounced the takbir. The inhabitants of the city were filled
with terror the likes of which they had never experienced pre-
viously. All of a sudden they saw the Muslims with them in their
city pronouncing the takbir, which astonished them. God cast
terror in their hearts until they didn’t know in which direction
they were turning. However, one group of men-—not a large one—
advanced toward Jahm b. Zahr, and the two sides fought for a
while. Jahm’s hand was broken, but he and his men held their
positions; it was not long before they killed most of them. When
Yazid b. al-Muhallab heard the takbir, he drove the soldiers to-
ward the gate, where they found that the guards had been drawn
away by Jahm b. Zahr; thus, there was no one there to keep Yazid
from entering, or to put up serious resistance. He stormed the
gate and entered the fortress at that very hour. He brought out the
soldiers that were inside and, after erecting palm trunks at a
distance of two farsakhs (12 km.) to the right and left of the road,
he crucified them over the course of four farsakhs (24 km.). Yazid
then captured the inhabitants of the fortress and took possession
of its contents.

According to ‘Ali—his authorities: Yazid wrote to Sulayman b.
‘Abd al-Malik: “Now then, God has made a great conquest on
behalf of the Commander of the Faithful and He has performed
the greatest favor for the Muslims. Praise be to our Lord for His
blessings and His kindness, for He has granted us victory, during
the caliphate of the Commander of the Faithful, over Jurjan and
Tabaristin—something which had escaped Sabur Dhu al-Ak-
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taf,2!7 Kisra b. Qubadh,2!8 and Kisra b. Hurmuz.21? Likewise, al-
Faruq ‘Umar b. al-Khattab, ‘Uthman b. ‘Affan, and the Caliphs of
God who succeeded them were unable to achieve this, until God
made this conquest on behalf of the Commander of the Faithful,
in order to bestow His honor upon him, and in order to increase
the blessing He has bestowed upon him. Now, I have in my pos-
session the fifth220 that God has bestowed upon the Muslims,
after every man took the share of the booty to which he was
entitled, which amounts to six million (dinirs),22! and I shall
bring this to the Commander of the Faithful, if God wills.”

But his scribe, al-Mughirah b. Abi Qurrah, a client of the Banua
Sadis, said to him, “Do not mention a specific amount of money,
for you will be caught between two possible responses: Either he
will consider it to be a large sum of money, in which case he will
order you to bring it to him; or he will express disdain for it222
and confer it on you, in which case you will be obligated to make
a gift. In the latter case, he will find whatever he receives from
you to be insignificant.223 It seems to me that you would risk all
that you have named without impressing him. The amount you
name will remain forever in their records as a debit against you.
Thus, if someone assumes authority after him, he will claim it
from you,; furthermore, if the person who assumes authority does
not favor you, he will not accept even twice that sum from you.
Therefore, do not send your letter; rather, write about your victo-
ry and ask him for permission to appear before him so that you
can speak to him directly about whatever you desire. But shorten
your account, for it is more appropriate to abbreviate the account

217. Shapir Il b. Hurmizd {A.D. 310-79) was called Dha al-Aktif because he had

the shoulders of Arab prisoners dislocated or pierced. See El, s.v. Shipur.

218. Khusraw I b. Kawadh (r. 531—79), a Sasinian King of Persia, known in
Persian sources as Anushirvan {of the immortal soul). See El, s.v. Sasanians.

219. Khusraw II Parviz (The Victorious} b. Hurmizd {r. 590-628), a Sasinian
King of Persia. See El, s.v. Sasanians.

220. The khums is the share of God and the Prophet that is to be spent on the
community as a whole. See EI2, s.v. Bayt al-Mal.

221. The translation follows FHA, 24, where dinars are specifically mentioned.
Kifi, Futih, VII, 297, mentions ‘‘twenty million dirhams.”

222. Text: sakhat nafsubu laka bihi. 1bn al-Athir, Kamil, V, 35, has samahat
nafsuhu laka bihi, "He will treat you generously regarding it.”

223. Text: istaqallahu; the Cairo ed. has istagbalahu: ‘He will accept it.”
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you wish to make than to exaggerate it.” But Yazid refused and he
sent the letter.

Some said: The letter mentioned the figure of four million
dirhams. 224

Abu Ja‘far (al-Tabari) said: In this year, Ayyub b. Sulayman b.
‘Abd al-Malik died.225 According to ‘Ali b. Muhammad— Ali b.
Mujahid—a shaykh from al-Rayy who was a contemporary of
Yazid: After finishing with Jurjan, Yazid b. al-Muhallab went to
al-Rayy, where he learned of Ayyub b. Sulayman’s death while he
was walking in the vineyard of Aba $alih, near the gate of al-
Rayy. A poet recited some rajaz verse?2?¢ in his presence:

Although Ayyub has died,
Diawiid has taken his place,
Restoring whatever power had been lost.227

In this year, the city of the Slavs was conquered.?28

In this year, Dawid b. Sulaymin b. ‘Abd al-Malik raided the
land of the Byzantines and conquered “Hisn al-Mar‘ah,””22° which
is near Malatyah 230

In this year, the pilgrimage was led by ‘Abd al-"Aziz b. “Abdallah
b. Khalid b. Asid who, at that time, was governor of Mecca. I was
informed of this by Ahmad b. Thabit—on the authority of the one
he mentioned—Ishagq b. ‘Isa—Abu Ma'shar.

The governors of the garrison towns in this year were the same
as in the year 97/715-716, as noted earlier, except that Yazid b.
al-Mubhallab’s governor over al-Basrah in this year was, according
to some, Sufyan b. ‘Abdallah al-Kindi.

224. Baladhuri, Futih {Cairo}, II, 414, mentions the figure of twenty-five million
dirhams.

225. Ayyub was the heir apparent. See text above, [I/1317.

226. Rajaz verse is the simplest and, according to the tradition, the oldest meter
of Arabic poetry. See EI2, s.v. ‘Arud.

227. See Kifi, Futih, VII, 307.

228. See text above, 1I/1317, note 154. See also Ibn Khayyit, Ta'rikh, 1, 321;
Ya‘'qubi, Ta'rikh, 111, 44; FHA, 25.

2129. See text above, II/1306, sub anno 97, note 126.

230. An old city, not far from the upper Euphrates, that served as headquarters
for the summer campaign against Byzantium. 